
ANNOUNCEMENT OF REVISED FINAL RESULTS
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

AND

REVISION OF AUDITORS’ OPINION ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

This announcement is made by Sound Global Ltd. (the “Company”, together with the subsidiaries, the “Group”) pursuant to Rule 
13.09 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock 
Exchange”) and the Inside Information Provision under Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of 
Hong Kong).

References are made to (1) the Company’s announcements dated 24 November 2015, 31 March 2016, 13 April 2016, 29 April 2016, 
31 August 2016, 2 June 2017, 19 June 2017, 28 June 2017, 24 July 2017, 8 August 2017, 13 September 2017, 26 September 2017, 16 October 
2017, 6 November 2017, 17 November 2017, 27 December 2017, 26 January 2018 and 1 February 2018 (the “Announcements”); and (2) the 
independent auditors’ report of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited (“HLB”) on the consolidated financial statements of the Group for 
the year ended 31 December 2014 (“2014 Financial Statements”) dated 24 November 2015 (the “2014 Auditors’ Report”) published in 
the annual report of the Company for the year of 2014.  Unless otherwise specified, capitalised terms used in the Announcements shall 
have the same meanings when used herein.

REVISION OF THE 2014 AUDITORS’ REPORT AND MODIFICATION OF AUDITORS’ REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE GROUP FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

The Board hereby announces that, by reason of the identification of the Discrepancies by the SFC, further audit procedures were 
carried out by the Company’s independent auditors HLB in accordance with the requirements of the relevant Hong Kong Standards 
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in respect of the 2014 Financial Statements and the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 (“2015 Financial Statements”).

On 5 February 2018, the Company was informed by HLB that, as a result of the said further audit procedures performed, it proposed 
to issue a modified report for the 2015 Financial Statements and revise its 2014 Auditors’ Report to a disclaimer of opinion on the 2014 
Financial Statements. 

The revised final results for the year ended 31 December 2015 together with the comparative figures for the year ended 31 December 
2014 are set as follows:



Notes 2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

(Restated)

Revenue 7 4,085,758 3,674,364
Cost of sales (2,768,089) (2,471,368)

Gross profit 1,317,669 1,202,996
Other income 8 48,239 17,980
Other gains and losses 9 (156,005) (59,751)
Distribution and selling expenses (59,608) (40,164)
Research and development expenses (43,591) (20,817)
Administrative expenses (190,811) (157,818)
Finance costs 10 (275,959) (290,977)

Profit before income tax 639,934 651,449
Income tax expenses 11 (180,640) (147,518)

Profit for the year 12 459,294 503,931

Other comprehensive expense
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
   Exchange difference arising on translation of financial
      statements of foreign operations (4,211) (5,279)

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 455,083 498,652

Profit for the year attributable to:
   Owners of the Company 455,425 502,943
   Non-controlling interests 3,869 988

459,294 503,931

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:
   Owners of the Company 451,214 497,664
   Non-controlling interests 3,869 988

455,083 498,652

Earnings per share (in RMB cents)
Basic 16 30.24 35.19

Diluted 16 30.24 34.73

consolidated statement of  profit or loss and 
other comprehensive  income

for the year ended 31 December 2015
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Notes 2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 17 91,390 52,069
Intangible assets 18 57,862 61,158
Land use rights 19 39,662 40,820
Goodwill 20 41,395 41,395
Service concession receivables 21 5,309,946 2,917,514
Deferred tax assets 22 10,888 7,730

5,551,143 3,120,686
CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories 23 97,827 34,872
Trade and other receivables 24 2,724,410 3,692,690
Land use rights 19 1,158 1,158
Available-for-sale investments 25 952,000 -
Amounts due from customers for contract work 26 1,513,870 1,157,581
Derivative financial instruments 32 - 18,037
Restricted bank balances 27 450,950 112,854
Bank balances and cash 27 769,719 1,968,239

6,509,934 6,985,431
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 28 2,936,873 1,821,459
Tax payables 124,826 100,003
Borrowings 29 2,704,907 1,448,286
Senior notes 33 - 907,073
Obligation under finance lease 34 3,914 -
Amounts due to customers for contract work 26 83 101,065

5,770,603 4,377,886

NET CURRENT ASSETS 739,331 2,607,545

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 6,290,474 5,728,231

consolidated statement of   financial position
at 31 December 2015

3sound global ltd.    



Notes 2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Deferred tax liabilities 22 207,258 162,582
Borrowings 29 1,248,743 1,272,652
Obligation under finance lease 34 36,124 -
Derivative financial instruments 32 37,969 47,014

1,530,094 1,482,248
TOTAL ASSETS LESS TOTAL LIABILITIES 4,760,380 4,245,983

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Issued capital 36 1,720,304 1,690,579
Reserves 2,993,272 2,549,158

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 4,713,576 4,239,737
Non-controlling interests 46,804 6,246

4,760,380 4,245,983

consolidated statement of   consolidated statement of   fffconsolidated statement of   consolidated statement of   fconsolidated statement of   consolidated statement of   inancial positioninancial positionffinancial positionff at 31 December 2015at 31 December 2015

4 sound global ltd.   
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notes:

(i) The merger reserve arose, (a) pursuant to the reorganisation in 2006, from the use of the whole proceeds of 
the interest-free loan granted by the Company’s immediate holding company, Sound Water (BVI) Limited 
(“Sound Water”), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”), to finance the acquisition 
of a subsidiary, Beijing Sound Environmental Engineering Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Sound”), which the amount was 
calculated as the difference between the loan amount of US$18.8 million (equivalent to RMB150,896,000) and the 
issued capital of the subsidiary acquired of RMB62,600,000; and (b) pursuant to the acquisition of Tongliao City 
Sound Water Co., Ltd. (“Tongliao Sound”) in 2014, from the difference between the consideration in relation to the 
acquisition of 97.8% interest in Tongliao Sound from Sound Group Limited (“Sound Group”), a fellow subsidiary 
of the Company, of approximately RMB192,427,000 and the issued capital and capital reserve of Tongliao Sound 
of RMB82,641,000.

(ii) The balance reflects (a) the fair value of the 2,157,000 shares of the Company transferred to an initial public 
offering consultant at a nominal value of S$1.00 during the listing on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading 
Limited (the “SGX”) in 2006; (b) the difference between the consideration of RMB18,000,000 in relation to the 
acquisition of 40% interest in Anyang Zongcun Sound Water Co., Ltd. (“Anyang Zongcun Sound”), a subsidiary, by 
the Group and the carrying amount on the non-controlling interest; (c) the difference between the consideration 
of RMB9,573,000 in relation to the acquisition of 20% interest in Yantai Bihai Water Co., Ltd. (“Yantai Bihai”), a 
subsidiary, by the Group and the carrying amount on the non-controlling interest; and (d) the difference between 
the consideration of approximately RMB4,329,000 in relation to the acquisition of 2.2% interest in Tongliao 
Sound, a subsidiary, by the Group and the carrying amount on the non-controlling interest of approximately 
RMB1,753,000.

(iii) In accordance with the Articles of Association of certain subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic of 
China (the “PRC”), those subsidiaries are required to transfer 10% of the profit after taxation to the statutory 
surplus reserve until the reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital. Transfer to this reserve must be made 
before distributing dividends to equity owners. The statutory surplus reserve can be used to make up for previous 
year’s losses, expand the existing operations or convert into additional capital of the subsidiaries.

consolidated statement of changes in  consolidated statement of changes in  eequityquityeequityeefor the year ended 31 December 2015for the year ended 31 December 2015

6 sound global ltd.   



Notes 2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

(Restated)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before income tax 639,934 651,449
Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 7,934 6,719
Amortisation of intangible assets 3,296 13,684
Amortisation of land use rights 1,158 1,158
Interest income (32,717) (15,391)
Finance costs 275,959 290,977
Allowance for doubtful debts 37,492 138
Allowance for doubtful debts written back (24,862) (3,003)
Write-down of inventories 3,868 -
Impairment losses recognised in respect of intangible assets - 12,439
Imputed interest income on service concession receivables (160,626) (116,703)
Gain on bargain purchase of subsidiaries (23,209) (5,258)
Foreign exchange loss (gain) 30,202 (2,784)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,584 44
Loss on early redemption of senior notes 56,501 -
Share-based payment expenses - 1,225
Fair value change of redemption option embedded in senior notes 15,321 (15,321)
Fair value change of warrants - 46,748
Fair value change of foreign currency forward contracts 2,716 668
Fair value change of a swap contract 8,286 (6,964)

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 842,837 859,825
Increase in inventories (63,482) (6,723)
Increase in trade and other receivables (888,752) (33,763)
Increase in service concession receivables (2,126,699) (376,836)
Increase in amounts due from customers for contract work (356,289) (61,006)
Increase in trade and other payables 997,602 61,407
(Decrease) increase in amounts due to customer for contract work (100,982) 59,698

Cash (used in) from operations (1,695,765) 502,602
Income taxes paid (109,155) (112,170)

NET CASH (USED IN) FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (1,804,920) 390,432

consolidated statement of   cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2015

7sound global ltd.    



Notes 2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received 32,717 15,391
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (13,182) (9,653)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 616 1,334
Refund of earnest money paid for the proposed acquisition of 

subsidiaries 2,000,000 -
Payment of earnest money of the proposed acquisition of 

subsidiaries - (2,000,000)
Acquisitions of subsidiaries 37 (89,465) (51,413)
Purchase of available-for-sale investments (952,000) -
Payment for deferred consideration on acquisitions of subsidiaries 

in previous year (7,031) -
Placement in restricted bank balances (1,699,506) (114,082)
Withdrawal from restricted bank balances 1,362,267 109,967

NET CASH FROM (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES 634,416 (2,048,456)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Interest paid (325,997) (269,096)
Payment for acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary - (4,329)
Payment for acquisition of a subsidiary from a fellow subsidiary 

under common control - (192,427)
Capital contribution from non-controlling interest 29,623 1,500
Exercise of warrants - 148,563
Exercise of share options 22,625 15,167
Proceeds from obligation under finance lease 40,000 -
Repayments of obligation under finance lease - (12,840)
Repayment for senior notes (1,008,102) -
Borrowings raised 3,225,273 1,160,397
Repayments of borrowings (2,019,979) (753,840)

NET CASH (USED IN) FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (36,557) 93,095

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (1,207,061) (1,564,929)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF  

THE YEAR 1,968,239 3,533,580
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES 8,541 (412)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR 
REPRESENTED BY BANK BALANCES AND CASH 769,719 1,968,239

consolidated statement of   consolidated statement of   ccash flowsash flowsccash flowscc for the year ended 31 December 2015for the year ended 31 December 2015

8 sound global ltd.   



1.	 GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company (Singapore Registration Number 200515422C) was a limited liability company incorporated in the 
Republic of Singapore (“Singapore”) on 7 November 2005 under the Singapore Companies Act and its shares are 
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “HKEx”). The registered office of the 
Company is at 1 Robinson Road, #17-00 AIA Tower, Singapore 048542. Its principal place of business is at 456 
Alexandra Road, #04-03 Fragrance Empire Building, Singapore 119962.

The Company is an investment holding company which is also engaged in environmental construction related 
design services. Its subsidiaries (together with the Company, collectively referred as the “Group”) are mainly 
engaged in environmental construction related to water treatment, research and development of water treatment 
technologies, manufacturing of water treatment equipments, provision of services for technology consultation 
and construction, management and operation of wastewater projects and water supply.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the principal subsidiaries of the Company operate. The functional currency of the 
Company is RMB.

The Company’s immediate and ultimate parent company is Sound Water. 

2.	 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) AND DISCLOSURES 

The accounting policies adopted in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015 
are consistent with those followed in the preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2014 except as described below.

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, the following amendments to IFRSs (“Amendments”) 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

IFRSs (Amendments)	 Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle
IFRSs (Amendments)	 Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle
IAS 19 (Amendments)	 Defined Benefits Plans: Employee Contributions

The application of the Amendments in the current year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial 
results and positions and/or on the disclosures set out in the consolidated financial statements.

for the year ended 31 December 2015

notes to the consolidated   financial statements

9sound global ltd.    
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for the year ended 31 December 2015for the year ended 31 December 2015

notes to the consolidated   notes to the consolidated   fffnotes to the consolidated   notes to the consolidated   fnotes to the consolidated   notes to the consolidated   inancial statementsinancial statementsffinancial statementsff

sound global ltd.   

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) AND DISCLOSURES  (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to IFRSs that have been issued but are not 
yet effective.

IFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle1

IFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle4

IFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle5

IFRS 2 (Amendments) Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions4

IFRS 4 (Amendments) Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts4

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments4

IFRS 9 (Amendments) Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation5

IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or
   (Amendments)  Joint Venture7

IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception1

   (Amendments)
IFRS 11 (Amendments) Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations1

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts2

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers4

IFRS 16 Leases5

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts6

IAS 1 (Amendments) Disclosure Initiative1

IAS 7 (Amendments) Disclosure Initiative3

IAS 12 (Amendments) Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses3

IAS 16 and IAS 38 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation1

   (Amendments)
IAS 16 and IAS 41 Agriculture: Bearer Plants1

   (Amendments)
IAS 19 (Amendments) Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement5

IAS 27 (Amendments) Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements1

IAS 28 (Amendments) Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures5

IAS 40 (Amendments) Transfers of Investment Property4

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration4

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments5

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016
2 Effective for first annual IFRS financial statements beginning on or after 1 January 2016
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
7 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

Except for those as stated below, the adoption of these new and amendments to IFRSs is not expected to have 
material impact on the results and the financial position of the Group.
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2.	 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) AND DISCLOSURES  (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet effective (continued)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 addresses the classification, measurement and recognition of financial assets and financial liabilities. The 
complete version of IFRS 9 was issued in July 2014. It replaces the guidance in IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement” that relates to the classification and measurement of financial instruments. 
IFRS 9 retains but simplifies the mixed measurement model and establishes three primary measurement 
categories for financial assets: amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income and fair value 
through profit or loss. The basis of classification depends on the entity’s business model and the contractual 
cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. Investments in equity instruments are required to be measured 
at fair value through profit or loss with the irrevocable option at inception to present changes in fair value in 
other comprehensive income not recycling. There is now a new expected credit losses model that replaces the 
incurred loss impairment model used in IAS 39. For financial liabilities, there were no changes to classification 
and measurement except for the recognition of changes in own credit risk in other comprehensive income, for 
liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss. IFRS 9 relaxes the requirements for hedge effectiveness 
by replacing the bright line hedge effectiveness tests. It requires an economic relationship between the hedged 
item and hedging instrument and for the ‘hedged ratio’ to be the same as the one management actually use for 
risk management purposes.

Contemporaneous documentation is still required but is different to that currently prepared under IAS 39. The 
standard is effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. Early adoption is permitted. The 
Group is yet to assess IFRS 9’s full impact.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in 
IAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. 
The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution of assets between an 
investor and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that do not 
constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only 
to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

IFRS 15 deals with revenue recognition and establishes principles for reporting useful information to users of 
financial statements about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from 
an entity’s contracts with customers. Revenue is recognised when a customer obtains control of a good or service 
and thus has the ability to direct the use and obtain the benefits from the good or service. The standard replaces 
IAS 18 “Revenue” and IAS 11 “Construction contracts” and related interpretations. The standard is effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 and earlier application is permitted. The Group is assessing 
the impact of IFRS 15.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) AND DISCLOSURES  (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet effective (continued)

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 eliminates the classification by a lessee of leases as either operating or finance. Instead all leases are 
treated in a similar way to finance leases in accordance with IAS 17 “Leases”. Under IFRS 16, leases are recorded 
on the statement of financial position by recognising a liability for the present value of its obligation to make 
future lease payments with an asset (comprised of the amount of the lease liability plus certain other amounts) 
either being disclosed separately in the statement of financial position (within right-of-use assets) or together 
with property, plant and equipment. The most significant effect of the new requirements will be an increase in 
recognised lease assets and financial liabilities.

In addition, the Company has adopted the amendments to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the 
HKEx (the “Listing Rules”) relating to the disclosure of financial information with reference to the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) during the current financial year. The main impact to the financial statements is 
on the presentation and disclosure of certain information in the financial statements.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(i) On 13 April 2016, the Company announced that, under Rule 8(1) of the Securities and Futures (Stock 
Market Listing) Rules, the Securities and Futures Commission (the “Commission”) has directed the HKEx 
to suspend all dealings in the shares of the Company with effect from 9:00am on 13 April 2016 (the “2016 
Suspension”).

On 2 June 2017, the Company announced that the finance department of the Group discovered on 31 May 
2017 that some of the financial documents of the Group were missing and the Group was in the course 
of verifying the relevant details. On 19 June 2017, the Company further announced that (i) the finance 
department of the Group reported that on 25 November 2016 an accident occurred when certain financial 
documents of the Group were being transported to a new file storage facility and as a result certain 
financial documents of the Group were lost and/or damaged (the “Accident”); (ii) the Group was in the 
course of verifying the relevant details and ascertaining the scope of loss.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(i)	 (continued)

The directors of the Company have determined that the Accident was a fire accident which damaged 
financial documents of five subsidiaries engaged in (i) research and development of water treatment 
technologies, provision of water treatment technology consultation services and construction of water 
treatment plant, which contributed to the operating segment of turnkey projects and services; and (ii) 
manufacturing water treatment equipment which contributed to the operating segment of equipment 
fabrications (the “Relevant PRC Subsidiaries”). The financial documents which were lost included 
vouchers with supporting documents, bank statements and related bank reconciliations for the financial 
years 2010 to 2015 (the “Damaged Documents”). As of the date of approval for issuance of the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015, the directors of the Company 
considered that the Group had made its best efforts, to the extent commercially practicable, to reconstruct 
the accounting records of the Relevant PRC Subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2015, applying 
the best estimate and judgement based on the information of the Group that are available to the directors 
of the Company. However, given that almost all books and records of the Relevant PRC Subsidiaries were 
damaged in the Accident and a number of key personnel of the finance department of the Group had left 
the Group and the Group had lost contact with them, the directors of the Company considered that it is 
impossible and impractical to ascertain the transactions and balances of the Relevant PRC Subsidiaries 
included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group. 

On 24 July 2017, the Company announced that the reason for trading suspension of the shares of the 
Company under Rule 8(1) of the Securities and Futures (Stock Market Listing) Rules (Chapter 571V of the 
Laws of Hong Kong) was that the Commission has found that the bank balances of five bank accounts 
(the “Bank Accounts”) of the subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 December 2012 and 31 December 
2013 were materially overstated by around RMB2.1 billion and RMB2.7 billion respectively (the “Bank 
Balances Discrepancies”) and the Company had engaged PKF Business Advisory Limited (the “Reviewer”) 
on 19 January 2017 to perform investigation services to the Company in respect of the Bank Balances 
Discrepancies.

Up to 1 February 2018, the Company announced that the Commission had not received from the Company 
any submission or representation which can satisfactorily explain the Bank Balances Discrepancies. The 
Company also announced that the Reviewer had on 8 January 2018 issued a report of their investigation 
findings on 8 January 2018. The Reviewer had identified discrepancies between the records shown in 
the list of bank accounts of the Group which was updated by the finance department after the Accident 
and the Group’s audited consolidated bank balances, as well as discrepancies in the bank balances 
shown on the list of bank accounts of the Group provided by the Company and the records obtained by 
the Commission. Based on the information obtained by the Reviewer, the Reviewer identified that the 
balances of the Bank Accounts shown on the records obtained by the Commission as at 31 December 2012 
and 2013 were lower than the corresponding balances shown on the lists of bank accounts of the Group 
provided by the Company, and the differences were respectively around RMB2.1 billion as at 31 December 
2012 and around RMB2.7 billion as at 31 December 2013.

The Reviewer also stated that it did not receive responses from the relevant banks on confirmation 
requests for most of the bank balances as at 31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014 and that the extent of work 
performed by the Reviewer on tracing bank transactions to supporting records was constrained due to 
unavailability of related financial documents and records as a result of the Accident.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(i) (continued)

The Reviewer concluded that it was unable to identify the cause or causes for the Bank Balances 
Discrepancies and particulars of these discrepancies.

In December 2017, the Group had commenced taking steps to further investigate the Bank Balances 
Discrepancies. As at the date of this report, these investigation works of the Group are still at a preliminary 
stage and no conclusive result was drawn in respect of the findings and conclusion of the Reviewer.

Based on the circumstances as abovementioned and the fact that the Bank Accounts to which the Bank 
Balances Discrepancies relate were bank accounts of the Relevant PRC Subsidiaries, the directors of 
the Company were unable to assess the impact of the Bank Balances Discrepancies on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015 and the consolidated financial 
statements issued in respect of previous financial years. As of the date of the approval for issuance of the 
consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are still considering steps in response to 
the investigation of the Bank Balances Discrepancies.

The revenue, income, expenses and cash flows for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 and the assets 
and liabilities as at those dates of the Relevant PRC Subsidiaries, excluding intra-group transactions and 
balances, which have been included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group are as follow:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue, income and expenses for the years ended 31 December:

Revenue (note (a)) 3,524,057 3,068,421
Cost of sales (2,498,070) (2,082,539)

Gross profit 1,025,987 985,882
Other income 36,906 15,506
Other gains and losses (16,448) 7,972
Distribution and selling expenses (58,399) (38,855)
Research and development expenses (43,591) (20,817)
Administrative expenses (92,089) (76,396)
Finance costs (76,281) (69,112)

Profit before income tax 776,085 804,180
Income tax expenses (118,712) (93,609)

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year attributable 
to owners of the Company 657,373 710,571

Note:
(a) Included in the revenue of the Relevant PRC Subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 

2015 were revenue attributable to (i) operating segment of turnkey projects and services of 
approximately RMB3,482,810,000 (2014: RMB3,031,368,000), representing 99% (2014: 94%) 
of revenue in this segment. Such revenue included approximately RMB2,294,602,000 (2014: 
RMB591,959,000 related to revenue from service concession arrangements of the Group; and 
(ii) operating segment of Equipment Fabrications of approximately RMB41,247,000 (2014: 
RMB37,053,000), representing 100% (2014: 100%) of revenue in this segment.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(i)	 (continued)

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Assets and liabilities as at 31 December:

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 39,801 40,926
Land use rights 38,786 40,820
Goodwill 41,395 41,395
Services concession receivables 2,017,639 816,092
Deferred tax assets 7,730 7,730

2,145,351 946,963

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories 90,655 28,006
Trade and other receivables 1,869,025 1,223,398
Land use rights 1,150 1,158
Available-for-sale investments 952,000 -
Amounts due from customers for contract work 717,105 1,003,091
Derivative financial instruments - 2,716
Restricted bank balances 414,369 81,628
Bank balances and cash 486,072 1,689,175

4,530,376 4,029,172

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 2,488,278 1,501,066
Tax payables 97,513 86,036
Borrowings 1,041,420 709,660
Amounts due to customers for contract work - 101,035

3,627,211 2,397,797

NET CURRENT ASSETS 903,165 1,631,375

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 3,048,516 2,578,338

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Deferred tax liabilities 4,497 4,594
Borrowings 557,700 435,260

562,197 439,854
TOTAL ASSETS LESS TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,486,319 2,138,484
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(i) (continued)

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash flow for the years ended 31 December:

Net cash from operating activities 184,624 209,643
Net cash (used in) from investing activities (1,255,171) 5,563
Net cash from financing activities 188,821 214,787

881,726 429,993

(ii) On 15 June 2017, the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) received two letters from Mr. Wen 
Yibo and Changjiang Capital Fund (the “Potential Offerors”) (collectively, the “Letters”), in which the 
Potential Offerors informed the Board that they are in the preliminary phase of considering the feasibility 
of pursuing a proposal for the privatisation of the Company, which, if proceeded with, could result in the 
privatisation and delisting of the Company from the HKEx (the “Possible Proposal”). The Board is also 
informed by the Potential Offerors that, in relation to the Possible Proposal, the Potential Offerors are 
acting in concert. The privatisation was not yet completed up to the date of approval of the consolidated 
financial statements.

(iii) During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group recorded net cash outflow from operating activities 
of approximately RMB1,804,920,000 and as at 31 December 2015, the Group recorded total borrowings 
exceeding restricted bank balances and bank balances and cash of approximately RMB2,732,981,000. 
The Group recorded current and non-current borrowings of approximately RMB2,704,907,000 and 
RMB1,248,743,000 and restricted bank balances and bank balances and cash of aggregate amount of 
approximately RMB1,220,669,000 as at 31 December 2015. 

The directors of the Company have assessed the latest financial position and operating performance of 
the Group. The directors of the Company are of the view that the Group is able to meet with its liabilities 
as and when they fall due in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the directors of the Company consider 
that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis except for certain 
financial instruments, which are measured at fair values, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes 
into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics 
into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or 
disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-
based payment transactions that are within the scope of IFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that 
are within the scope of IAS 17 “Leases”, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair 
value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on 
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to 
the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

•	 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 
entity can access at the measurement date;

•	 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

•	 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs and the accounting policies 
are set out below. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the 
Listing Rules, and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the Singapore Companies Act.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities 
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

• has power over the investee;

• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of 
during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive Income from 
the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

On acquisition, the assets and liabilities of the relevant subsidiaries are measured at their fair values at the date 
of acquisition. Income and expenses of the subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition 
and up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s equity therein.

Allocation of total comprehensive income to non-controlling interests

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company 
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the Company 
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control 
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests 
and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. 
Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the 
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a 
business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values 
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and 
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition related costs are 
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair 
value, except that:

•	 deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are 
recognised and measured in accordance with IAS 12 “Income Taxes” and IAS 19 “Employee Benefits” 
respectively;

•	 liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-
based payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements 
of the acquiree are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy 
below); and

•	 assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 “Non-current 
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations” are measured in accordance with that standard.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the 
acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities 
assumed. If, after re-assessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests 
in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquire (if any), the excess is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share 
of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 
The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling 
interests are measured at their fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another IFRS.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the 
business less any accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or 
groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. A cash-
generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually or more frequently when 
there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, 
the cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that 
reporting period. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the 
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to 
the other assets of the unit on a pro rata basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment 
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss for goodwill is not reversed in 
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the 
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, and represents amounts 
receivable for goods sold and services provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts and sales 
related taxes.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Construction contracts

When the outcome of a construction contract including construction or upgrade services of the infrastructure 
under a service concession arrangement can be estimated reliably, revenue and costs are recognised by reference 
to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the end of the reporting period, measured based on the 
proportion that contract costs incurred for work performed to date relative to the estimated total contract costs, 
except where this would not be representative of the stage of completion. Variations in contract work, claims 
and incentive payments are included to the extent that the amount can be measured reliably and its receipt is 
considered probable and they have been agreed with the customer.

Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the 
extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as expenses 
in the period in which they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as 
an expense immediately.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses exceed progress billings, the 
surplus is shown as amounts due from customers for contract work. For contracts where progress billings exceed 
contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is shown as amounts 
due to customers for contract work. Amounts received before the related work is performed are included in 
the consolidated statement of financial position, as a liability, as advances received. Amounts billed for work 
performed but not yet paid by the customer are included in the consolidated statement of financial position 
under trade and other receivables.

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered and titles have passed at which time 
all the following conditions are satisfied:

•	 the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

•	 the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with 
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

•	 the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

•	 it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; and

•	 the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Rendering of services

Service income including that from operating service provided under service concession arrangements is 
recognised when services are provided. Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognised by reference to 
the stage of completion of the contract.

Interest income

Interest income from a financial asset (excluding financial assets through profit or loss) is accrued on a time basis, 
by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying 
amount on initial recognition.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception of the 
lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is 
included in the consolidated statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve 
a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognised immediately 
in profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised in 
accordance with the Group’s general policy on borrowing costs (see the accounting policy below).

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where 
another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the lease 
asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period 
in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a 
liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, 
except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from 
the leased asset are consumed.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including land and buildings and leasehold land (classified as finance lease) held 
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes (other than properties 
under construction as describes below) are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less 
subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, 
less any recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs 
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Such properties are classified to the appropriate 
categories of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these 
assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment other than properties 
under construction over their estimated useful lives and after taking into account of their estimated residual 
values, using the straight-line method, at the following rates per annum:

Land and buildings	 2% to 3%
Plant and machinery	 9% to 33%
Transportation vehicles	 18%
Fixtures and equipment	 9% to 33%

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset 
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included 
in profit or loss in the period in which the item is derecognised.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the 
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the 
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies 
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that day. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated 
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on retranslation of monetary items are 
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s 
foreign operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. RMB) at the exchange rates 
prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at the average exchange 
rates for the period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve (attributable to non-controlling interests as 
appropriate.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributed to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are 
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the 
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment 
income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying 
assets is deducted from the borrowing cost eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the 
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group 
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose 
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in 
the period in which they become receivable.

Service concession arrangements

The Group has entered into service concession arrangements with the various governing bodies or agencies of 
the PRC government (the “grantors”) to build and operate waste water treatment plants. Under the concession 
arrangements, the Group will construct and/or operate the plants for a concession period of between 20 and 30 
years and transfer the plants to the grantors at the end of the concession periods. Such concession arrangements 
fall within the scope of IFRIC 12 “Service Concession Arrangement”, and are accounted for as follows:

Financial asset - service concession receivables

The Group recognises a service concession receivable if it has an unconditional contractual right under the 
service concession arrangements to receive a fixed or determinable amount of payments during the concession 
period irrespective of the usage of the plants. The service concession receivable is measured on initial recognition 
at its fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, the service concession receivable is measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Service concession arrangements (continued)

Intangible asset - operating concession

An intangible asset (operating concession) is recognised to the extent that the Group receives a right to charge 
users of the public service, which is not an unconditional right to receive cash because the amounts are 
contingent on the extent that the public uses the service. The intangible asset (operating concession) is recognised 
at fair value upon initial recognition and is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated 
impairment losses.

If the Group is paid partly by a financial asset and partly by an intangible asset, in which case, each component 
of the consideration is accounted for separately and the consideration received or receivable for both components 
shall be recognised initially at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the defined contribution retirement benefits scheme under the state-managed retirement benefit 
schemes and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense when employees have 
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Taxation

Income tax expenses represent the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before income 
tax as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because of income 
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The 
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in 
the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable profit. 
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets 
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible 
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference 
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and 
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, 
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the 
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible 
temporary differences associated with such investments are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they 
are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to 
be recovered.



26

for the year ended 31 December 2015for the year ended 31 December 2015

notes to the consolidated   notes to the consolidated   fffnotes to the consolidated   notes to the consolidated   fnotes to the consolidated   notes to the consolidated   inancial statementsinancial statementsffinancial statementsff

sound global ltd.   

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in 
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the 
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of 
its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised 
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from 
the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business 
combination.

Land use rights

Land use rights are stated at cost and amortised on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. Land use rights 
which are to be amortised in the next twelve months or less are classified as current assets.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation 
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is provided on 
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are identified and recognised separately from goodwill 
where they satisfy the definition of an intangible asset and their fair values can be measured reliably. The cost of 
such intangible assets is their fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets 
with finite useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is provided on a straight-line basis over their estimated 
useful lives.

The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the 
effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured at the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in profit or loss in the period when the 
asset is derecognised.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (continued)

Internally-generated intangible assets - research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development activities (or from the development phase of 
an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

•	 the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

•	 the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

•	 the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

•	 how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;

•	 the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to 
use or sell the intangible asset; and

•	 the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred 
from the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria. Where no internally-generated 
intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is charged to profit or loss in the period in which 
it is incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible asset is reported at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets acquired 
separately.

Impairment losses of tangible assets and intangible assets other than goodwill (see the accounting policy in 
respect of goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets 
with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment 
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the 
extent of the impairment loss. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, 
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future 
cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, 
the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment 
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment losses of tangible assets and intangible assets other than goodwill (see the accounting policy in 
respect of goodwill above) (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is 
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or 
a cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average 
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of 
completion and costs necessary to make the sales.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the consolidated statement of financial position when a 
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets or 
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial 
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately 
in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into the following specified categories, including financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), available-for-sale financial assets and loans and receivables.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating 
interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts (including all fees or points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest 
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, 
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those financial assets 
classified as FVTPL.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified as FVTPL when the financial assets are either held for trading or it is those 
designated at FVTPL on initial recognition.

Financial assets at FVTPL include derivatives not designated nor effective as a hedging instrument.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value arising on remeasurement 
recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated as available-for-sale or are not 
classified as (a) loans and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or (c) financial assets at FVTPL.

Equity and debt securities held by the Group that are classified as available-for-sale financial assets and 
are traded in an active market are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the 
carrying amount of available-for-sale monetary financial assets relating to interest income calculated using the 
effective interest method, and changes in foreign exchange rates, if applicable are recognised in profit or loss. 
Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to 
receive the dividends is established. Other changes in the carrying amount of available-for-sale financial assets 
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of investments revaluation 
reserve. When the investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss 
previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss (see the accounting 
policy in respect of impairment loss on financial assets below).

Available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose 
fair value cannot be reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of such 
unquoted equity investments are measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at the end of each 
reporting period (see the accounting policy in respect of impairment loss on financial assets below).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand deposits and other short-term highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value.

Restricted bank balances

Cash and cash equivalent are classified as restricted bank balances when the assets are restricted from being 
exchanged or used to settle a liability.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market. At the end of each reporting period subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables 
(including service concession receivables, trade and other receivables, restricted bank balances and bank balances 
and cash) are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any identified impairment losses 
(see accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each 
reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result 
of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash 
flows of the financial asset have been affected.

For available-for-sale equity investments, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below 
its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

• breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

• it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired 
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a 
portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments and observable changes 
in national or local economic conditions that are correlated with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the 
financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market 
rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods (see 
the accounting policy below).
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets 
with the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance 
account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When a trade 
receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of 
amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss 
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment losses was 
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the 
carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost 
would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

In respect of available-for-sale equity investments, impairment losses previously recognised in profit or loss are 
not reversed through profit or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is recognised in 
other comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of investment revaluation reserve. In respect 
of available-for-sale debt investments, impairment losses are subsequently reversed through profit or loss if an 
increase in the fair value of the investment can be objectively related to an event occurring after the recognition of 
the impairment loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance 
with the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an 
equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting 
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct 
issue costs.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating 
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial 
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis other than those financial liabilities classified as FVTPL.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities are classified as FVTPL when the financial liabilities are either held for trading or it is those 
designated at FVTPL on initial recognition.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL include derivatives not designated nor effective as a hedging instrument.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value arising on remeasurement 
recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including liability component of the convertible loan notes, senior notes, borrowings 
and trade and other payables are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contract

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair values and, if not designated as at 
FVTPL, subsequently at the higher of the amount of obligation under the contract recognised as a provision 
in accordance with IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets” and the amount initially 
recognised less cumulative amortisation in accordance with IAS 18.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are 
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is 
recognised in profit or loss immediately.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts are treated as separate derivatives when they meet the 
definition of a derivative, their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts and 
the host contracts are not measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, 
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to 
another entity. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial 
asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the 
proceeds received.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Derecognition (continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in 
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the 
consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Convertible loan notes

Convertible loan notes issued by the Group that contain both the liability and conversion option components 
are classified separately into respective items on initial recognition in accordance with the substance of the 
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument. Conversion option 
that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the 
Company’s own equity instruments is classified as an equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability component is determined using the prevailing market interest 
of similar non-convertible debts. The difference between the gross proceeds of the issue of the convertible loan 
notes and the fair value assigned to the liability component, representing the conversion option for the holder to 
convert the loan notes into equity, is included in equity (convertible loan notes reserve).

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the convertible loan notes is carried at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method. The equity component, representing the option to convert the liability component 
into ordinary shares of the Company, will remain in convertible loan notes reserve until the embedded option is 
exercised (in which case the balance stated in convertible loan notes reserve will be transferred to capital reserve). 
Where the option remains unexercised at the expiry date, the balance stated in convertible loan notes reserve will 
be released to retained earnings. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration of 
the option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible loan notes are allocated to the liability and equity 
components in proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the equity 
component are charged directly to equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability component are included in 
the carrying amount of the liability portion and amortised over the period of the convertible loan notes using the 
effective interest method.

When the Group extinguishes the convertible loan notes before maturity through early redemption or repurchase 
in which the original conversion privileges are unchanged, the entity allocates the consideration paid and any 
transaction costs for the repurchase or redemption to the liability and equity components of the instrument 
at the date of the transaction. The method used in allocating the consideration paid and transaction costs 
to the separate components is consistent with that used in the original allocation to the separate components 
of the proceeds received by the Group when the convertible loan notes were issued. Once the allocation of the 
consideration is made, any resulting gain or loss relating to liability component is recognised in profit or loss and 
the amount of consideration relating to equity component is recognised in equity.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at the fair 
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in equity (share options reserve). At the end of 
each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest. The 
impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative 
expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share options reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve 
will be transferred to issued capital. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not 
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to 
retained earnings.

Related parties transactions

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control of the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each parent, 
subsidiary and fellow subsidiaries is related to the others);

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a 
member of a group which the other entity is a member);

(iii) both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or 
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employees are also 
related to the Group;
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Related parties transactions (continued)

(b)	 An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies: (continued)

(vi)	 the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in note (a);

(vii)	 a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); or

(viii)	 the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel 
services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between a reporting entity and a 
related party, regardless of whether a price is charged.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be 
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(a)	 that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(b)	 children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(c)	 dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic partner.

5.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 4, the directors of the Company 
are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on 
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the 
period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

i.	 Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies

The management is of the opinion that there is no instance of application of judgement expected to have a 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.



36

for the year ended 31 December 2015for the year ended 31 December 2015

notes to the consolidated   notes to the consolidated   fffnotes to the consolidated   notes to the consolidated   fnotes to the consolidated   notes to the consolidated   inancial statementsinancial statementsffinancial statementsff

sound global ltd.   

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 
(CONTINUED)

ii. Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated impairment of trade and other receivables

The Group makes allowances for bad and doubtful debts based on assessment of the recoverability of 
trade and other receivables. Allowances are applied to trade and other receivables where events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may not be collectible. The identification of bad 
and doubtful debts requires the use of judgment and estimates. Where the expectation is different from 
the original estimate, such difference will affect the carrying amount of trade and other receivables and 
doubtful debt expenses in the period in which such estimate has been changed. The carrying amount of 
trade and other receivables are disclosed in Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

Revenue recognition

The Group recognises contract revenue based on the stage of completion method. The stage of completion 
is measured in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 4. Significant estimation is required in 
determining the stage of completion, including the extent of the contract cost incurred, the estimated total 
contract revenue and the estimated total contract cost and the recoverability of the costs. In assessing the 
estimation, the Group relies on past experience and the work of the project management team. Changes 
in the estimation of contract revenue or contract costs, or changes in the estimated outcome of a contract 
could affect the amounts of revenue and expenses recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the 
changes are made and in subsequent periods. Such impact could potentially be significant.

Accounting for IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements

The Group recognises the consideration received or receivable in exchange for the construction services 
as a financial asset and/or an intangible asset under public-to-private concession arrangement. However, 
if the Group is paid for the construction services partly by a financial asset and partly by an intangible 
asset, it is necessary to account separately for each component of the operator’s consideration. The 
consideration received or receivable for both components shall be recognised initially at the fair value of 
the consideration received or receivable.

The segregation of the consideration for a service concession arrangement between the financial asset 
component and the intangible asset component, if any, requires the Group to make an estimate of a 
number of factors, which include, inter alia, fair value of the construction services, expected future 
wastewater treatment volume of the relevant sewage treatment plant over its service concession period, 
future guaranteed receipts and unguaranteed receipts, and also to choose a suitable discount rate in 
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. These estimates are determined by the Group’s 
management based on their experience and assessment on current and future market condition. Changes 
in these estimates could impact the amounts of construction revenue and deemed interest income and 
expenses recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the change is made and in subsequent 
periods. Such impact could potentially be significant.
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5.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 
(CONTINUED)

ii.	 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-
generating units to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the entity 
to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating operating unit and a 
suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value. Where the actual future cash flows are less 
than expected, a material impairment loss may arise. The carrying amount of goodwill and details of the 
recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment

Determining whether the intangible assets and property, plant and equipment are impaired requires 
an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which intangible assets and property, 
plant and equipment have been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate 
the future cash flows expected from the cash-generating units and an appropriate discount rate in 
order to calculate the present value of the future cash flows. Where the actual future cash flows are less 
than expected, a material impairment loss may arise. The carrying amount of the intangible assets and 
property, plant and equipment at the end of the reporting period is disclosed in Notes 18 and 17 to the 
consolidated financial statements respectively.

6.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group determines its operating segments based on internal reports about components of the Group that 
are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker (the “CODM”) in order to allocate resources to the 
segments and to assess their performance.

The Group is organised into business units based on their products and services, based on which information 
is prepared and reported to the Group’s CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of 
performance.

The Group is primarily engaged in three operating segments, namely (1) turnkey projects and services, (2) 
manufacturing (“Equipment Fabrications”), and (3) operations and maintenance of water supply and wastewater 
treatment facilities (“O&M”).

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in 
Note 4. Segment results represent the profits earned by each segment without allocation of central administration 
costs, directors’ remuneration, other income, other gains and losses and finance costs at corporate level.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment information about the Group’s operating segments is presented below.

Segment revenue and results

Turnkey
projects and

services
Equipment

Fabrications O&M
Segment

total Elimination Consolidated
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

For the year ended 
31 December 2015

Revenue
External sales 3,512,357 41,247 532,154 4,085,758 - 4,085,758
Inter-segment sales - 263,106 - 263,106 (263,106) -
Total revenue 3,512,357 304,353 532,154 4,348,864 (263,106) 4,085,758

Segment results 731,138 14,545 256,280 1,001,963 - 1,001,963
Unallocated income 7
Unallocated other 

gains and losses (146,146)
Unallocated finance 

costs (180,937)
Unallocated expenses (34,953)
Profit before income tax 639,934

For the year ended 
31 December 2014

Revenue
External sales 3,209,968 37,053 427,343 3,674,364 - 3,674,364
Inter-segment sales - 189,156 - 189,156 (189,156) -
Total revenue 3,209,968 226,209 427,343 3,863,520 (189,156) 3,674,364

Segment results 774,705 (6,342) 157,686 926,049 - 926,049
Unallocated income 360
Unallocated other 

gains and losses (57,546)
Unallocated finance 

costs (193,046)
Unallocated expenses (24,368)
Profit before income tax 651,449

Inter-segment sales are charged at prices agreed between the group entities and are eliminated on consolidation.
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6.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment assets and liabilities

Segment assets represent property, plant and equipment, land use rights, intangible assets, goodwill, service 
concession receivables, deferred tax assets, available-for-sales investments, inventories, trade and other 
receivables, amounts due from customers for contract work, restricted bank balances and bank balances and 
cash, which are attributable to each operating segment. Segment liabilities represent trade and other payables, 
tax payables, borrowings, amounts due to customers for contract work and deferred tax liabilities except for those 
arisen from undistributed profits of the PRC subsidiaries, which are attributable to each operating segment. In 
the internal reports regularly reviewed by the CODM, tax payables and deferred tax assets/liabilities are allocated 
to each segment, if applicable, without allocating the related income tax expenses to relevant segment results.

Turnkey
projects and

services
Equipment

Fabrications O&M
Segment

total Elimination Consolidated
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 31 December 2015
Segment assets 8,010,402 651,000 7,772,912 16,434,314 (6,940,430) 9,493,884
Unallocated corporate 

assets (note i) 2,567,193
Consolidated assets 12,061,077

Segment liabilities 6,201,637 309,546 4,513,681 11,024,864 (6,940,430) 4,084,434
Deferred tax liabilities 63,625
Unallocated corporate 

liabilities (note ii) 3,152,638
Consolidated 

liabilities 7,300,697

At 31 December 2014
Segment assets 7,516,878 616,144 5,195,997 13,329,019 (4,546,451) 8,782,568
Unallocated corporate 

assets (note i) 1,323,549
Consolidated assets 10,106,117

Segment liabilities 4,482,043 294,349 2,324,293 7,100,685 (4,546,451) 2,554,234
Deferred tax liabilities 52,625
Unallocated corporate 

liabilities (note ii) 3,253,275
Consolidated 

liabilities 5,860,134
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment assets and liabilities (continued)

notes:

i Unallocated corporate assets mainly represent bank balances and cash, other receivables and equipment 
at the corporate and investment holding companies’ levels.

ii Unallocated corporate liabilities mainly represent borrowings, senior notes, derivative financial 
instruments, obligation under finance lease and other payables at the corporate and investment holding 
companies’ levels.

Other information

Turnkey 
projects and 

services
Equipment

Fabrications O&M Unallocated Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

For the year ended 31 December 2015
Additions to non-current assets 

excluding financial instruments and 
deferred tax assets 2,319 968 9,740 155 13,182

Depreciation and amortisation 2,149 2,132 8,051 56 12,388
Interest income (32,386) (121) (207) (3) (32,717)
Imputed interest income on service 

concession receivables - - (160,626) - (160,626)
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, 

plant and equipment 102 1,122 402 (42) 1,584
Finance costs 78,022 5,167 11,832 180,938 275,959

For the year ended 31 December 2014
Additions to non-current assets 

excluding financial instruments and 
deferred tax assets 5,086 211 4,352 4 9,653

Depreciation and amortisation 1,835 12,807 6,890 29 21,561
Interest income (13,309) (315) (1,468) (299) (15,391)
Imputed interest income on service 

concession receivables - - (116,703) - (116,703)
Impairment of intangible assets - - 12,439 - 12,439
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, 

plant and equipment 51 - (7) - 44
Finance costs 64,332 4,780 28,819 193,046 290,977
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6.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are located in the PRC, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (“Saudi Arabia”) and the People’s 
Republic of Bangladesh (“Bangladesh”). The Group’s revenue from external customers is presented based on the 
location of the operations of customers. Information about the Group’s non-current assets other than financial 
instruments and deferred tax assets is presented based on the geographical location of the assets.

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

(Restated)
Revenue from external customers

The PRC 3,966,064 3,644,285
Saudi Arabia 1,873 -
Bangladesh 117,821 30,079

4,085,758 3,674,364

Non-current assets
The PRC 230,309 195,147
Saudi Arabia - 295

230,309 195,442

No revenue from a single external customer (2014: Nil) amount to 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue for the 
year ended 31 December 2015.
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7. REVENUE

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

(Restated)
Revenue from engineering, procurement and construction contracts 

(note (i))
- Design service 57,666 51,930
- Sale of equipment 487,401 267,183
- Turnkey services 2,949,920 2,869,394

3,494,987 3,188,507

Revenue from sale of goods 41,247 37,053
Operating and maintenance income 371,528 310,640
Design service 17,370 21,461
Imputed interest income on service concession receivables 160,626 116,703

4,085,758 3,674,364

Note:

(i) Further breakdown of revenue from engineering, procurement and construction contracts:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

From contracts with external customers 1,200,385 2,596,548
From service concession arrangements of the Group 2,294,602 591,959

3,494,987 3,188,507
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8.	 OTHER INCOME

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

(Restated)

Interest income 32,717 15,391
Government grants 15,104 2,482
Sundry income 418 107

48,239 17,980

Government grants were mainly granted to the Group as subsidies to support the operations of the PRC 
subsidiaries. The government grants had no conditions or contingencies attached to them and they were non-
recurring in nature.

9.	 OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Allowance for doubtful debts 37,492 138
Allowance for doubtful debts written back (24,862) (3,003)
Write-down of inventories 3,868 -
Change in fair value of redemption option embedded in senior notes 15,321 (15,321)
Change in fair value of a swap contract 8,286 2,941
Change in fair value of foreign currency forward contracts 2,716 668
Change in fair value of warrants - 46,748
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,584 44
Loss on early redemption of senior notes 56,501 -
Gain on bargain purchase of subsidiaries (23,209) (5,258)
Impairment losses recognised in respect of intangible assets - 12,439
Net foreign exchange loss 78,067 20,290
Others 241 65

156,005 59,751



44

for the year ended 31 December 2015for the year ended 31 December 2015

notes to the consolidated   notes to the consolidated   fffnotes to the consolidated   notes to the consolidated   fnotes to the consolidated   notes to the consolidated   inancial statementsinancial statementsffinancial statementsff

sound global ltd.   

10. FINANCE COSTS

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest expenses on borrowings
- wholly repayable within five years 114,808 103,082
- not wholly repayable within five years 32,364 43,212

Interest expenses on finance lease 38 206
Interest expenses on convertible loan notes - 11,654
Interest expenses on senior notes 128,749 132,823

275,959 290,977

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

The charge comprises:
Current tax
- PRC income tax 133,978 114,452
Over provision in prior years
- PRC income tax - (10,247)
Deferred tax (Note 22) 46,662 43,313

180,640 147,518

The Singapore income tax represents income tax in Singapore which is calculated at the prevailing tax rate on the 
taxable income of companies established in Singapore. For the years ended 31 December 2014 and 2015, the tax 
rate was 17%.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT 
Law, the statutory tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

The EIT Law provides that qualified dividend income between two “resident enterprises” that have a direct 
investment relationship is exempted from income tax. Otherwise, such dividends will be subject to a withholding 
tax under the tax treaty or the domestic law.
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11.	 INCOME TAX EXPENSES (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 2014 and 2015, certain PRC subsidiaries of the Company enjoyed preferential income tax rates 
at 12.5%, 15% or tax exemption as follows:

2015 2014
% %

Beijing Sound (note i) 15 15
Beijing Epure International Water Co., Ltd (“Beijing Epure”) (note ii) 15 15
Beijing Hi-Standard Water Treatment Equipment Co., Ltd 

(“Hi-Standard Equipment”) (note iii) 15 15
Guangxi Sound Water Co., Ltd (“Guangxi Sound”) (note iv) 12.5 12.5
Hainan Sound Water Co., Ltd (“Hainan Sound”) (note iv) 12.5 12.5
Taizhou Sound Wastewater Co., Ltd (“Taizhou Sound”) (note iv) 12.5 12.5
Xi’an Chang’an Sound Water Co., Ltd (“Xi’an Chang’an Sound”) (note iv) 12.5 12.5
Xi’an Hu County Sound Water Co., Ltd (“Xi’an Hu County Sound”) (note iv) 12.5 12.5
Hancheng City Sound Water Co., Ltd (“Hancheng Sound”) (note iv) 12.5 12.5
Shangluo Sound Water Co., Ltd (“Shangluo Sound”) (note iv) 12.5 12.5
Tongliao Sound (note iv) 12.5 12.5
Yulin City Jingzhou Water Co., Ltd (“Yulin Jingzhou”) (note iv) 12.5 12.5
Anyang Zongcun Sound (note iv) 12.5 Exempted
Xi’an Trade & Logistics Park Sound Water Co., Ltd 

(“Xi’an Trade & Logistics Park Sound”) (note iv) 12.5 Exempted
Daye Honglian Water Co. Ltd (“Daye Honglian”) (note iv) Exempted Exempted
Jiangyan Qinlong Water Co., Ltd (“Jiangyan Qinlong”) (note iv) Exempted Exempted
Anshan Qingchang Water Co., Ltd (“Anshan Qingchang”) (note iv) Exempted Exempted
Anshan Qinglang Water Co., Ltd (“Anshan Qinglang”) (note iv) Exempted Exempted
Anshan Tianqing Water Co., Ltd (“Anshan Tianqing”) (note iv) Exempted Exempted
Anyang Taiyuan Water Co., Ltd (“Anyang Taiyuan”) (note iv) Exempted Exempted
Changsha Sound Water Co., Ltd (“Changsha Sound”) (note iv) Exempted Exempted
Fushun Sound Water Co., Ltd (“Fushun Sound”) (note iv) Exempted Exempted
Hailun Sound Water Co., Ltd (“Hailun Sound”) (note iv) Exempted Exempted
Hongze Zeqing Water Co., Ltd (“Hongze Zeqing”) (note iv) Exempted Exempted
Sound Hanzhong Yang County Water Co., Ltd 

(“Hanzhong Yang County”) (note iv) Exempted Exempted
Yantai Bihai Water Co., Ltd (“Yantai Bihai”) (note iv) Exempted Exempted
Beijing Jingyushi Water Co., Ltd (“Jingyushi”) (note iv) Exempted 25%
Beijing Jingyuyang Water Co., Ltd (“Jingyuyang”) (note iv) Exempted 25%
Changbaishan Protection and Development Zone 

Sound Water Co., Ltd (“Changbaishan Sound”) (note iv) Exempted 25%
Helong Sound Water Co., Ltd (“Helong Sound”) (note iv) Exempted 25%
Hongze Sound Water Co., Ltd (“Hongze Sound”) (note iv) Exempted 25%
Tongzi Sound Water Co., Ltd (“Tongzi Sound”) (note iv) Exempted 25%
Advanced Water (Pengxi) Co., Ltd (“Advanced (Pengxi)”) (note v) 15% N/A
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (CONTINUED)

notes:

(i) Beijing Sound is a sino-foreign joint cooperative company located in Beijing Zhong Guan Cun Science 
Park, Beijing, the PRC.

According to the EIT Law and Circular of State Administration of Taxation on Issues Concerning 
Implementation of Preferential Income Tax Enjoyed by High-and-new-tech Enterprises (Guo Shui Han 
2009 No. 203), high-and-new-tech enterprises are levied enterprise income tax at 15%. Beijing Sound was 
entitled to enjoy a preferential tax rate at 15% from 2008 to 2016 and as it has successfully applied as a 
high-and-new-tech enterprise in 2014 for a period from 2014 to 2016.

(ii) Beijing Epure is a foreign investment enterprise located in Beijing Zhong Guan Cun Science Park, Beijing, 
the PRC.

In accordance with the Interim Measures of Beijing New Tech Industry Development Test Zone approved 
by the State Council on May 10, 1988 and promulgated by the People’s Government of Beijing on May 
20, 1988, the newly established new tech enterprise within test zone shall be entitled to an exemption 
from income tax for the three years commencing from its establishment, and thereafter, entitled to a 
50% relief of income tax for the next three years subject to the approval from the relevant authority. As 
a company established in a test zone, Beijing Epure was exempted from income tax for each of the years 
ended 31 December 2007, 2008 and 2009, and is subject to income tax at 7.5% for each of the years ended 
31 December 2010, 2011 and 2012. According to Guo Shui Han 2009 No. 203, Beijing Epure was entitled to 
enjoy a preferential tax rate at 15% for current year as it has successfully applied as a high-and-new-tech 
enterprise in 2014 for a period from 2014 to 2016.

(iii) Hi-Standard Equipment is a PRC limited liability company located in Beijing Zhong Guan Cun Science 
Park, Beijing, the PRC.

According to Guo Shui Han 2009 No. 203, Hi-Standard Equipment was entitled to enjoy a preferential tax 
rate of 15% for an effective period from 2011 to 2016 and as it has successfully applied as a high-and-new-
tech enterprise in 2014 for a period from 2014 to 2016.
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11.	 INCOME TAX EXPENSES (CONTINUED)

notes: (continued)

(iv)	 According to No.88 provision of the Implementation Rules on the EIT Law of the PRC and the third 
item in No.27 provision of the EIT Law of the PRC, the income of companies engaged in environmental 
protection projects, or energy and water saving projects, which meet relevant requirements, shall be 
exempted from enterprise income tax for three years commencing from the first revenue-generating 
year of operations and thereafter, be entitled to a 50% reduction from enterprise income tax for the next 
three years. The specific conditions and scope of projects shall be jointly formulated by the competent 
department of finance and taxation of the State Council in collaboration with other relevant departments 
of the State Council and shall be publicised and implemented after being approved by the State Council. 
Guangxi Sound, Hainan Sound, Taizhou Sound, Xi’an Chang’an Sound and Xi’an Hu County Sound 
have obtained the approval and are entitled to exempt from enterprise income tax in 2010, 2011 and 2012 
and enjoy 12.5% preferential enterprise income tax rate in the following three years. Hancheng Sound, 
Shangluo Sound, Tongliao Sound, and Yulin Jingzhou have obtained the approval and are entitled to 
exempt from enterprise income tax in 2011, 2012 and 2013 and enjoy 12.5% preferential enterprise income 
tax rate in the following three years. Anyang Zongcun Sound and Xi’an Trade & Logistics Park Sound 
have obtained the approval and are entitled to exempt from enterprise income tax in 2012, 2013 and 2014 
and enjoy 12.5% preferential enterprise income tax rate in the following three years. Daye Honglian and 
Jiangyan Qinlong have obtained the approval and are entitled to exempt from enterprise income tax in 
2013, 2014 and 2015 and enjoy 12.5% preferential enterprise income tax rate in the following three years. 
Anshan Qingchang, Anshan Qinglang, Anshan Tianqing, Anyang Taiyuan, Changsha Sound, Fushun 
Sound, Hailun Sound, Hongze Zeqing, Hanzhong Yang County and Yantai Bihai have obtained the 
approval and are entitled to exempt from enterprise income tax in 2014, 2015 and 2016 and enjoy 12.5% 
preferential enterprise income tax rate in the following three years. Jingyushi, Jingyuyang, Changbaishan 
Sound, Helong Sound, Hongze Sound and Tongzi Sound have obtained the approval and are entitled to 
exempt from enterprise income tax in 2015, 2016 and 2017 and enjoy 12.5% preferential enterprise income 
tax rate in the following three years.

(v)	 Advanced (Pengxi) is a foreign investment enterprise located in Pengxi County, Suining City, Sichuan, the 
PRC.

According to the EIT Law, Notice of the Ministry of Finance, the General Administration of Customs and 
the State Administration of Taxation on Tax Policy Issues Concerning Further Implementing the Western 
China Development Strategy (No. 58 2011 of the Ministry of Finance), and Announcement of the State 
Administration of Taxation on Issues Concerning Enterprise Income Tax Related with Enhancing the 
Western Region Development Strategy, enterprise’s main business belongs to the scope of “Catalogue of 
Encouraged Industries in Western Regions” are levied enterprise income tax at 15%. Advanced (Pengxi) 
was entitled to enjoy a preferential tax rate at 15% from 2011 to 2020.
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (CONTINUED)

The income tax expenses can be reconciled to the profit before income tax per the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Profit before income tax 639,934 651,449

Tax at the applicable income tax rate of respective tax jurisdictions 193,701 242,264
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose 58,862 29,095
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose (15,954) (89,468)
Effect of tax exemption (120,887) (85,903)
Tax effect of unrecognised deductible temporary differences 460 796
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 58,988 46,783
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised (5,530) (2,052)
Deferred tax liabilities arising on undistributed profits in

the PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards 11,000 16,250
Over provision of current tax in prior years - (10,247)
Income tax expense 180,640 147,518

12. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Amortisation of intangible assets 3,296 13,684
Amortisation of land use rights 1,158 1,158
Auditors’ remuneration

Audit services 4,186 5,170
Non-audit services 2,422 45

Cost of inventories recognised as expenses 283,339 217,248
Depreciation for property, plant and equipment 7,934 6,719

Staff costs
Directors’ remuneration (Note 13) 2,623 2,992

Other staff costs
Salaries and other benefits 146,107 132,675
Contributions to defined contribution plans 23,390 17,295
Share-based payments - 930

Total staff costs 172,120 153,892
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13.	 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments paid to the directors and the chief executive of the Company for the year are as follows:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Directors’ fees 420 610

Directors’ emoluments:
- Salaries and other benefits 1,936 1,577
- Bonus 24 310
- Contributions to defined contribution plans 243 200
- Share-based payments - 295

2,203 2,382
Total 2,623 2,992

Directors’ 
fee

Salaries 
and other 

benefit Bonus

Contributions
to defined

contribution 
plans

Share-
based

payments Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

For the year ended  
31 December 2015

Executive directors:
WEN Yibo - 465 - 44 - 509
ZHANG Jingzhi (note i) - 396 - 44 - 440
JIANG Anping (note ii) - 249 - 44 - 293
LUO Liyang - 248 - 44 - 292
WANG Kai (note iii) - 293 - 44 - 337
LIU Wei (note iv) - 285 24 23 - 332

Independent non-executive 
directors:
MA Yuanju (note v) 83 - - - - 83
ZHANG Shuting (note vi) 57 - - - - 57
LUO Jianhua (note vii) 50 - - - - 50
WONG See Meng (note viii) 75 - - - - 75
FU Tao (note ix) 30 - - - - 30
SEOW Han Chiang 

Winston (note x) 125 - - - - 125
420 1,936 24 243 - 2,623
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Directors’ 
fee

Salaries 
and other 

benefit Bonus

Contributions
to defined

contribution 
plans

Share-
based

payments Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

For the year ended 
31 December 2014

Executive directors:
WEN Yibo - 470 - 40 - 510
ZHANG Jingzhi - 314 - 40 - 354
JIANG Anping - 254 33 40 46 373
LUO Liyang - 254 277 40 124 695
WANG Kai - 285 - 40 125 450

Independent non-executive 
directors:
WONG See Meng 300 - - - - 300
FU Tao 60 - - - - 60
SEOW Han Chiang 

Winston 250 - - - - 250
610 1,577 310 200 295 2,992

notes:

(i) Mr. Zhang Jingzhi resigned as an executive director and chief executive officer of the Company on 12 
August 2016.

(ii) Mr. Jiang Anping resigned as an executive director of the Company on 12 August 2016.

(iii) Mr. Wang Kai (“Mr. Wang”) was resigned as an executive director and removed as chief financial officer of 
the Company on 18 December 2015.

(iv) Mr. Liu Wei was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 30 July 2015 and resigned as an 
executive director of the Company on 26 July 2017.

(v) Mr. Ma Yuanju was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company on 20 April 2015.

(vi) Mr. Zhang Shuting was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company on 9 July 2015.

(vii) Mr. Luo Jianhua was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company on 31 July 2015.

(viii) Mr. Wong See Meng resigned as an independent non-executive director of the Company on 26 March 2015.

(ix) Mr. Fu Tao resigned as an independent non-executive director of the Company on 6 July 2015.

(x) Mr. Seow Han Chiang Winston resigned as an independent non-executive director of the Company on 31 
July 2015.
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13.	 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Mr. Wen Yibo is also the chief executive of the Company and his emoluments disclosed above include those for 
services rendered by him as the chief executive.

None of the directors of the Company has waived any emoluments during the years ended 31 December 2014 and 
2015.

The bonus is determined based on evaluation of each individual annually, which is approved by remuneration 
committee.

Details of material interests of the directors of the Company in transactions, arrangements or contracts entered 
into by subsidiaries of the Company are disclosed in the Directors’ Statement of this annual report.

14.	 EMOLUMENTS OF THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The five highest paid individuals included two (2014: two) directors for the year ended 31 December 2015. The 
emoluments of the directors are included in the disclosure in Note 13 above. The emoluments of the remaining 
three (2014: three) highest paid individuals for the year ended 31 December 2015 are as follows:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Salaries and other benefits 1,550 1,532
Bonus (note) 345 338
Contributions to defined contribution plans 173 121
Share-based payments - 119

2,068 2,110

note:

The performance related bonus is determined based on evaluation of each individual annually.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors or the five highest paid individuals as inducement to join 
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

Their emoluments were within the following band:

Number of individuals
2015 2014

Nil to HK$1,000,000 3 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 - 1
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15. DIVIDENDS

No dividend has been proposed by the Board in respect of the year ended 31 December 2014 and 2015.

16. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to owners of the Company is based on the 
following data:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Earnings for the purpose of basic earnings per share 455,425 502,943
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:

Interest on convertible loan notes - 11,654
Earnings for the purpose of diluted earnings per share 455,425 514,597

2015 2014
’000 ’000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of 
basic earnings per share 1,506,047 1,429,349

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares from:
Share options - 12,018
Convertible loan notes - 40,344

Weighted average number of shares for the purpose of 
diluted earnings per share 1,506,047 1,481,711
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17.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Land and
buildings

Plant and
machinery

Transportation
vehicles

Fixtures and
equipment

Construction
in progress Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

COST
At 1 January 2014 44,973 11,982 8,901 12,387 - 78,243
Reclassification - 97 158 (255) - -
Additions - 264 6,986 2,403 - 9,653
Acquired on 

acquisitions of 
subsidiaries  
(Note 37) - 8 94 153 - 255

Disposal - (3,131) (1,766) (505) - (5,402)
Exchange alignment - 5 4 8 - 17

At 31 December 2014 44,973 9,225 14,377 14,191 - 82,766
Additions 354 168 7,486 4,240 934 13,182
Acquired on 

acquisitions of 
subsidiaries  
(Note 37) 17,087 12,957 562 356 5,311 36,273

Transfer 33 2,803 - 179 (3,015) -
Disposal - (5,626) (640) (1,286) - (7,552)
Exchange alignment - 68 50 33 - 151

At 31 December 2015 62,447 19,595 21,835 17,713 3,230 124,820
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Land and
buildings

Plant and
machinery

Transportation
vehicles

Fixtures and
equipment

Construction
in progress Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ACCUMULATED 
DEPRECIATION

At 1 January 2014 11,452 5,790 5,141 5,607 - 27,990
Reclassification - 11 (131) 120 - -
Charge for the year 1,487 1,316 1,616 2,300 - 6,719
Disposal - (1,964) (1,594) (466) - (4,024)
Exchange alignment - 2 3 7 - 12

At 31 December 2014 12,939 5,155 5,035 7,568 - 30,697
Charge for the year 1,451 1,289 2,562 2,632 - 7,934
Disposal - (3,631) (547) (1,174) - (5,352)
Exchange alignment - 68 50 33 - 151

At 31 December 2015 14,390 2,881 7,100 9,059 - 33,430

CARRYING AMOUNT
At 31 December 2015 48,057 16,714 14,735 8,654 3,230 91,390

At 31 December 2014 32,034 4,070 9,342 6,623 - 52,069

At 31 December 2015, the Group has pledged land and buildings with carrying amount of approximately 
RMB26,627,000 (2014: RMB27,321,000) to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group.
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18.	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Operating
Patents concessions Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

COST
At 1 January 2014 67,199 67,846 135,045
Acquired on acquisitions of subsidiaries (Note 37) - 9,733 9,733

At 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2015 67,199 77,579 144,778

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2014 57,199 298 57,497
Amortisation for the year 10,000 3,684 13,684
Impairment loss recognised for the year - 12,439 12,439

At 31 December 2014 67,199 16,421 83,620
Amortisation for the year - 3,296 3,296

At 31 December 2015 67,199 19,717 86,916

CARRYING AMOUNTS
At 31 December 2015 - 57,862 57,862

At 31 December 2014 - 61,158 61,158

The patents represent various patents which protect the design and specification in the manufacturing of 
wastewater treatment equipment. Amortisation for the patents is provided on a straight-line basis over their 
estimated useful lives ranging from 4.5 to 9.5 years.

Operating concessions represent the rights to operate sewage and water treatment plants and are stated at cost 
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation is provided on straight-line basis over the respective periods of the operating concessions granted to 
the Group of 17 to 27 years. Details of these operating concessions are set out in Note 21.

The operating concessions will be tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that it may be impaired.
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18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Despite the increase in revenue contribution by the operating concessions for the year ended 31 December 2014, 
the operating results of Jingyushi and Jingyuyang had not been reached as originally expected. Consequently, the 
directors of the Company have revised downward the profit forecast on the operating concessions of Jingyushi 
and Jingyuyang. 

At 31 December 2015, the directors of the Company have assessed the recoverable amount of intangible assets 
by reference to valuation report issued by Peak Vision Appraisals Limited, a firm of independent qualified 
professional valuers, which valued the operating concession using the value-in-use calculation with a discount 
rate of 7.44% (2014: 7.94%) and determined that no intangible assets associated with it was impaired for the year 
ended 31 December 2015 (2014: approximately RMB12,439,000).

19. LAND USE RIGHTS

RMB’000

COST
At 1 January 2014, 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2015 49,921

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION
At 1 January 2014 6,785
Charge for the year 1,158

At 31 December 2014 7,943
Charge for the year 1,158

At 31 December 2015 9,101

CARRYING AMOUNTS
At 31 December 2015 40,820

At 31 December 2014 41,978

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Analysed for reporting purpose as:
- Current asset 1,158 1,158
- Non-current asset 39,662 40,820

40,820 41,978
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19.	 LAND USE RIGHTS (CONTINUED)

The amount represents the prepayment of rentals for land use rights situated in the PRC. The leasehold land has 
lease terms ranging from 43 to 47 years.

At 31 December 2015, the Group has pledged land use rights with carrying amount of approximately 
RMB2,075,000 (2014: RMB2,138,000) to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group.

20.	 GOODWILL

RMB’000

COST
At 1 January 2014, 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2015 41,395

Goodwill has been allocated to the cash-generating unit of Hi-Standard Equipment in equipment fabrications 
segment.

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might 
be impaired. The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is determined from value in use calculations. 
The key assumptions for the value in use calculations are those regarding the discount rates and expected order 
book secured and direct costs during the forecasted period. Management estimates discount rates using pre-
tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the cash-
generating unit. Order book secured and direct costs are estimated based on past practices and expectations of 
future changes in the market.

The value in use calculation uses cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial forecasts approved by 
the management for the next five years, and discount rate of 9.63% (2014: 9.98%) at 31 December 2015. No growth 
rate is extrapolated beyond the five-year forecasted period.

During the year ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, based on the business valuation report issued by Peak Vision 
Appraisals Limited of Hi-Standard Equipment cash-generating unit, its recoverable amount exceeded its carrying 
amount in which the goodwill was allocated, hence no impairment charge was recognised for the year ended 31 
December 2015 and 2014.



58

for the year ended 31 December 2015for the year ended 31 December 2015

notes to the consolidated   notes to the consolidated   fffnotes to the consolidated   notes to the consolidated   fnotes to the consolidated   notes to the consolidated   inancial statementsinancial statementsffinancial statementsff

sound global ltd.   

21. SERVICE CONCESSION RECEIVABLES

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Service concession receivables 5,608,467 3,112,135
Less: Amounts due within one year shown under 

current assets (Note 24) (298,521) (194,621)
Service concession receivables due after one year 5,309,946 2,917,514

Service concession receivables arose from the service concession contracts to build and operate water supply, 
wastewater treatment and recycling water plants. The Group is the operator under certain build-operate-transfer 
(“BOT”) arrangements. As explained in the accounting policy for “Service concession arrangements” set out in 
Note 4, consideration given by the grantor for a service concession arrangement is accounted for as an intangible 
asset (operating concessions) or a financial asset (service concession receivables) or a combination of both, as 
appropriate. The intangible asset component is detailed in Note 18, and the financial asset component is as above.

The Group has 88 (2014: 53) BOT projects in progress, among which 35 (2014: 26) BOT projects were in the 
operation period during the year ended 31 December 2015. Those arrangements entitle the Group concession 
rights for periods ranging from 19 to 30 years with minimum guaranteed tonnage and tariff per ton as defined 
in the agreements. During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group recognised construction revenue of 
approximately RMB2,294,602,000 (2014: RMB591,959,000) and construction profit of RMB645,671,000 (2014: 
RMB129,833,000) in connection with BOT projects under construction period.

At 31 December 2015, certain BOT projects’ charging rights under the service concession contracts of the Group 
with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately RMB2,561,794,000 (2014: RMB1,565,335,000) was pledged to 
secure certain bank borrowings granted to the Group (Note 29(i)).

The Group’s obligation under finance lease is secured by the lessors’ title to the leased assets classified as service 
concession receivables, which have a carrying amount of approximately RMB156,270,000 (2014: RMB Nil) at 31 
December 2015 (Note 34).
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22.	 DEFERRED TAXATION

The deferred tax assets (liabilities) recognised by the Group, and the movements thereon are as follows:

Allowance
for 

doubtful
debts

Undistributed
profits

of the PRC
subsidiaries

Fair value
adjustment

arising from
acquisitions

of subsidiaries

Service
concession
receivables Others Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2014 8,008 (36,375) (30,729) (50,985) 173 (109,908)
(Charge) credit to 

profit or loss (451) (16,250) 7,341 (33,953) - (43,313)
Acquired on 

acquisitions of 
subsidiaries  
(Note 37) - - (1,631) - - (1,631)

At 31 December 2014 7,557 (52,625) (25,019) (84,938) 173 (154,852)
Credit (charge) to 

profit or loss 3,158 (11,000) 513 (39,333) - (46,662)
Acquired on 

acquisitions of 
subsidiaries  
(Note 37) - - 5,144 - - 5,144

At 31 December 2015 10,715 (63,625) (19,362) (124,271) 173 (196,370)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Deferred tax assets 10,888 7,730
Deferred tax liabilities (207,258) (162,582)

(196,370) (154,852)
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22. DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

At 31 December 2015, the Group has unused tax losses of approximately RMB449,944,000 (2014: RMB463,406,000) 
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of those tax losses 
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The tax losses of approximately RMB364,882,000 (2014: 
RMB378,529,000) at 31 December 2015 has no expiry date and the remainder will be expired as follows:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

2015 - 3,780
2016 11,715 11,715
2017 5,695 6,309
2018 15,117 15,758
2019 47,299 47,315
2020 5,236 -

85,062 84,877

Under the EIT Law, withholding tax is imposed at 5% on dividends declared to foreign investors in respect of 
profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Accordingly, deferred taxation has been 
provided for in the consolidated financial statements in respect of profits of relevant PRC subsidiaries to be 
distributed estimated by the directors of the Company. Meanwhile, deferred tax liabilities on the undistributed 
profits of the PRC subsidiaries of approximately RMB3,351,050,000 (2014: RMB2,492,952,000) which was earned 
after 1 January 2008, have not been recognised at 31 December 2015, because the Group is in a position to control 
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that such differences will not reverse in 
the foreseeable future.

23. INVENTORIES

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Raw materials 40,499 11,690
Work in progress 2,746 11,340
Finished goods 54,582 11,842

97,827 34,872
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24.	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The following is an analysis of trade and other receivables at the end of the reporting period:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade receivables 1,627,886 1,232,455
Allowance for doubtful debts (59,380) (46,181)

1,568,506 1,186,274
Bills receivable 13,100 18,000
Bid and compliance deposits 251,696 78,755
Advance payments to suppliers and subcontractors 192,967 100,915
Other receivables 399,620 2,114,125
Service concession receivables (Note 21) 298,521 194,621
Total 2,724,410 3,692,690

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables net of allowance for doubtful debts presented, based on the 
billing date of construction service or delivery of goods, as appropriate.

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade receivables:
Within 90 days 510,070 516,362
91 to 180 days 226,720 123,821
181 days to 1 year 178,623 216,556
1 to 2 years 580,152 275,832
2 to 3 years 54,672 51,250
More than 3 years 18,269 2,453

1,568,506 1,186,274

Bills receivable:
Within 180 days 13,100 18,000

The Group has a policy of awarding trade customers with credit of generally within 90 days except for 
construction projects for which settlement is made in accordance with the terms specified in the contracts 
governing the relevant transactions. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by the Group’s management.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables are debtors with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately 
RMB341,509,000 (2014: RMB417,056,000) at 31 December 2015 which were overdue, for which the Group has not 
made allowance for impairment loss as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts 
are still considered recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
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24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Aging of trade receivables past due but not impaired:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

181 days to 1 year 40,340 87,521
1 to 2 years 263,397 275,832
2 to 3 years 19,503 51,250
More than 3 years 18,269 2,453

341,509 417,056

Movement in allowance for doubtful debts:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Balance at beginning of the year 46,181 49,184
Acquired on acquisitions of subsidiaries (Note 37) 569 -
Charge to profit or loss 37,492 138
Written back to profit or loss (24,862) (3,003)
Amounts written off as uncollectable - (138)
Balance at end of the year 59,380 46,181

In determining the recoverability of trade receivables, the Group considers any change in the credit quality of 
trade receivables from the date credit was initially granted up to the end of the reporting period. The above 
allowance was mainly provided for based on estimated irrecoverable amounts arising from construction 
contracts, determined by reference to past default experience. The Group reviews the recoverable amount of each 
individually significant debt at the end of each reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are 
made for irrecoverable amounts.

Management considers that the trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are with 
creditworthy counterparties.

At 31 December 2015, no trade receivables have been pledged (2014: trade receivables with carrying amount of 
approximately RMB110,021,000 have been pledged as collateral for the short-term borrowings of RMB80,000,000).

As of the date of the approval of the consolidated financial statements, (i) trade receivables with principal amounts 
of approximately RMB229,923,000, RMB392,253,000 and RMB 522,728,000 which were recognised by the Group on 
or before 31 December 2013, during the year ended 31 December 2014 and 2015 respectively were still outstanding 
and remained unsettled, representing approximately 18%, 50% and 70% of the balances of trade receivables as 
at 31 December 2013, 2014 and 2015 were still outstanding and remained unsettled; and (ii) other receivables with 
amounts of approximately RMB58,396,000, RMB123,556,000 and RMB270,316,000 which were recognised by 
the Group on or before 31 December 2013, during the year ended 31 December 2014 and 2015 respectively were 
still outstanding and remained unsettled, representing approximately 17%, 7% and 39% of the balances of other 
receivables as at 31 December 2013, 2014 and 2015 were still outstanding and remained unsettled.
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24.	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

As set out in the Company’s announcements dated 16 March 2015, 31 March 2015 and 29 April 2015, the release 
of the annual results for the year ended 31 December 2014 was delayed. It was further announced that the 
predecessor auditors of the Company (the “Predecessor Auditors”) identified the potential issues in relation to the 
financial position of the Group which refer to the shortfall of or about RMB2.0 billion between the Group’s cash 
balances at banks and that on the Group’s books at 31 December 2014 (the “Cash Discrepancy”). The Company’s 
shares (stock code: 00967) and debt securities (stock code: 04561) had been suspended from trading on the HKEx 
with effect from 16 March 2015 (the “2015 Suspension”).

In order to deal with the Cash Discrepancy, it has been resolved by the Board to set up an independent review 
committee (the “IRC”) on 31 March 2015 and on 23 June 2015, the Company announced that the IRC has engaged 
PKF Accountants & Business Advisors (“PKF”) to conduct a review on the Cash Discrepancy. The report 
prepared by PKF (the “Review Report”) revealed that the Cash Discrepancy was a result of the earnest money 
amounting to RMB2.0 billion (the “Earnest Money”) paid through Sound Group, paid to two independent third 
parties incorporated in the PRC (the “Sellers”) for acquisition of their water treatment businesses (the “Proposed 
Acquisition”) and in this connection, the Company entered into a trust agreement dated 26 August 2014 with 
Sound Group to empower Sound Group acting as its agent in the Proposed Acquisition (the “Trust Agreement”).

It is further set out in the Review Report that, it was agreed that the Earnest Money should be financed through 
Sound Group’s own internal funds. Accordingly, the Group further entered into a supplemental agreement to the 
Trust Agreement dated 20 March 2015 (the “Supplemental Trust Agreement”), pursuant to which Sound Group 
agreed to transfer RMB2.0 billion, being the refund of the Earnest Money, back to the Group’s bank account 
within one month from the date of the signing of the Supplemental Trust Agreement and pay interests to the 
Group at 0.35% annually which is the interest rate of current deposit of the People’s Bank of China. As a result of 
the Supplemental Trust Agreement, Sound Group transferred approximately RMB2.8 million as interest to the 
Company during the year ended 31 December 2015. Details of the Review Report were set out in the Company’s 
announcement dated 23 June 2015.

On 9 July 2015, the Company announced that it received a letter dated 6 July 2015 from the HKEx, in which 
the following conditions were given in respect of the resumption of trading in the Company’s shares and debt 
securities on the HKEx (the “Resumption Conditions”):

(i)	 engage an independent forensic specialist acceptable to the HKEx to conduct forensic investigations on 
the Cash Discrepancy;

(ii)	 demonstrate that the Group has put in place adequate financial reporting procedures and internal control 
systems to meet its obligations under the Listing Rules;

(iii)	 publish all outstanding financial results required by the Listing Rules and address any audit 
qualifications; and

(iv)	 inform the market of all material information.

The Company must also comply with the Listing Rules and all applicable laws and regulations in Hong Kong and 
its place of incorporation before resumption.

The HKEx may modify the above conditions and/or impose further conditions if the situation changes.

The Company announced on 31 July 2015 that the IRC was in the process of identifying an independent forensic 
specialist with finance and accounting expertise to conduct forensic investigation on the Cash Discrepancy.
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24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

On 31 August 2015, the Company announced that, as disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 9 July 
2015, in order to resume trading of the Company’s shares and debt securities on the HKEx, the Company was 
required, amongst others, to engage an independent forensic specialist acceptable to the HKEx to conduct 
forensic investigations on the Cash Discrepancy and to demonstrate that the Group had put in place adequate 
financial reporting procedures and internal control systems to meet its obligations under the Listing Rules. In this 
connection, the Company has formally engaged RSM Nelson Wheeler Corporate Advisory Limited (now known 
as RSM Corporate Advisory (Hong Kong) Limited) (“RSM”) as its independent forensic specialist to conduct the 
forensic investigations on the Cash Discrepancy; and PKF as its internal control consultant to review and advise 
on the Group’s financial reporting procedures and internal control systems.

RSM has completed its forensic investigations and issued its report on 20 November 2015.

The trading in the Company’s shares and debt securities have been suspended on the HKEx since 16 March 
2014. On the other hand, it is uncertain in respect of the discretion of HKEx as to whether there may be potential 
non-compliance of the Listing Rules in respect of the Proposed Acquisition, the Trust Agreement and the 
Supplemental Trust Agreement which may result in possible sanctions for breach of the Listing Rules including 
relevant provisions of the Listing Rules and relevant sections of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571). 
The Board has been taking active steps to satisfy the resumption conditions but the resumption of the trading 
of shares of the Company are subjected to the satisfaction of the requirements laid down by the HKEx and its 
discretion. These conditions, along with the matters abovementioned described the uncertainty relating to the 
future outcome of the resumption of trading of the Company’s shares which might have a significant effect on the 
consolidated financial statements of the Company and the Group.

On 30 November 2015, the Company announced that RSM has completed its forensic investigations on the 
Cash Discrepancy and had issued an Independent Forensic Accountants’ Report dated 20 November 2015 (the 
“Independent Forensic Accountants’ Report”). On 26 November 2015, the Company submitted the Independent 
Forensic Accountants’ Report to the HKEx.

The Company further announced that PKF has completed its reviewing of the Company’s financial reporting 
procedures and internal control systems. PKF is in the process of finalising its review report. The management of 
the Group had been discussing with PKF about the latter’s findings and proposed remedial measures on financial 
reporting procedures and internal control systems. The management of the Company was also considering the 
implementation of the proposed remedial measures, where appropriate.

On 18 December 2015, the Company announced the summary of the key findings of RSM in the forensic 
accounting review on the Cash Discrepancy. Below is a summary of the key findings of RSM in the forensic 
accounting review.

The Predecessor Auditors identified a shortfall of RMB2.0 billion between the Group’s cash balances at banks 
and that on the book at 31 December 2014 i.e. the Cash Discrepancy, during the course of their audit of the 
Group’s consolidated financial statement for the year ended 31 December 2014. After the discovery of the Cash 
Discrepancy, the IRC was formed consisting of the independent non-executive directors (INEDs) of the Company 
and subsequently, PKF was appointed to conduct a special investigation on the Cash Discrepancy.
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24.	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

PKF’s findings were consistent with the Company’s explanation that the Cash Discrepancy was due to the Earnest 
Money paid by the Company through its agent, Sound Group, for the Proposed Acquisitions. The payments of the 
Earnest Money were omitted in the Group’s accounting records.

RSM’s independent forensic accounting review was largely divided into, inter alia, the following areas: (1) to 
find out the cause(s) of the Cash Discrepancy (whether the cause(s) matched with PKF findings); (2) to review 
the existence of the Proposed Acquisitions and whether the Proposed Acquisitions were the cause of the Cash 
Discrepancy; (3) to review the subsequent fund flow of the Earnest Money refunded by Sound Group to the 
Group on 13 April 2015; and (4) to assess whether the Cash Discrepancy was related to fraud.

During the forensic accounting review, RSM conducted, inter alia: (1) confirmation procedures with the banks 
of Beijing Sound, Beijing Epure and Sound Group; (2) confirmation procedures with the Sellers in the Proposed 
Acquisitions; (3) interviews with various relevant individuals; and (4) computer forensic review of the computers 
which were used by the relevant employees of the Group.

RSM confirmed that on 4 November 2014, Beijing Sound paid earnest money to one of the Sellers via Sound 
Group for a proposed acquisition and on 24 November 2014, Beijing Sound and Beijing Epure paid earnest money 
to the another Sellers via Sound Group for another proposed acquisition, totaling RMB2.0 billion.

RSM found that none of the above payments had been recorded in the accounting records of Beijing Sound, 
Beijing Epure and/or the Group until 3 April 2015, i.e. approximately a month after the Cash Discrepancy was 
discovered by the Predecessor Auditors. These transactions, omitted in the Group’s accounting records at the 
relevant time, caused the discrepancy of RMB2.0 billion between the Group’s cash balances at banks and that on 
the books at 31 December 2014. The correction entries were made on 3 April 2015.

Due to the confidentiality of the Proposed Acquisitions as requested by the Sellers and to avoid intense 
competition, the Group engaged Sound Group as its agent in the Proposed Acquisitions. Under such an agency 
arrangement, Sound Group entered into agreements with the Sellers. The Group would make payments of the 
Earnest Money to Sound Group and Sound Group would then make the payments to the Sellers on the Group’s 
behalf.

At the relevant time, the Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) (also an executive director) of the Company, Mr. 
Wang decided not to record the accounting entries for the time being since he intended to wait and see if the 
Proposed Acquisitions could be completed by the end of the year 2014, and if so, the Earnest Money would be 
fully returned to the Group. However, due to his oversight and/or heavy workload, he had forgotten to follow up 
with the progress of the Proposed Acquisitions and to post the relevant entries before the Predecessor Auditors’ 
performance of their audit field work in early 2015.

RSM reviewed the relevant documents of the Proposed Acquisitions, conducted site visits at the selected water 
treatment facilities of the Sellers and interviews with the Sellers and conducted forensic computer reviews. All 
these serve as contemporaneous evidence in support the existence of the Proposed Acquisitions at the relevant 
time.
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24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Upon the discovery of the Cash Discrepancy, Sound Group voluntarily refunded RMB2.0 billion plus interest to 
the Company on 13 April 2015. RSM reviewed the cash flow of the refund of RMB 2.0 billion and how the refund 
had been utilised (e.g. repayment of bank loan, payment of bid deposits or investment funds for various projects, 
etc.), and found no obvious irregularities.

RSM’s review is consistent with PKF’s findings, and is also consistent with the Company’s explanation that the 
Cash Discrepancy was due to the omission of recording the payments of the Earnest Money in the sum of RMB2.0 
billion to the Sellers in the Company’s books. RSM is unable to verify the explanation given by the CFO of the 
Company, Mr. Wang, as to whether, at or around the times of the transactions, he genuinely planned to make 
the entries by the year end of 2014 or before the commencement of the audit and/or his omission of booking the 
entries was indeed due to oversight. 

RSM however have not found any evidence which indicated that such error or omission was related to fraud. In 
addition, other than the Finance Department of the Company, no other department and/or management of the 
Company was involved in/had knowledge about the omissions in recording the transactions prior to Predecessor 
Auditors’ discovery of the Cash Discrepancy.

With regard to the potential internal control weaknesses revealed by the incident of the Cash Discrepancy, as 
also reflected in the forensic accounting review conducted by RSM, the Group had, inter alia, taken the following 
remedial measures to enhance its internal control:

(i) For each single payment exceeding the limit of RMB30 million or for each single transaction exceeding 
the limit of RMB100 million (the payment of which may be made by instalments), the chairman of 
the Audit Committee would be required to counter-sign as an additional signatory on behalf of the 
independent non-executive directors of the Company; and

(ii) Before submitting requests to the chairman of the Audit Committee for counter-signing, the management 
of the Group is required to provide the chairman of the Audit Committee with the relevant supporting 
documents and information for his perusal and verification.

The Company announced on 21 January 2016 that according to the internal control report issued by PKF dated 13 
January 2016 (the “Internal Control Report”), PKF has come to a conclusion that from their review of the Group’s 
implementation of the proposed measures, their enquiries, observations and discussions with the management of the 
Group, as well as their examination of relevant documents and records, the Group had already put in place adequate 
financial reporting procedures and internal control systems to meet the obligations under the Listing Rules.

Having considered the Internal Control Report, the Board is of the view that the Group’s financial reporting 
procedures and internal control systems are sufficient to meet the obligations under the Listing Rules.

The Company further announced on 21 January 2016 that all of the Resumption Conditions imposed by the HKEx 
has been fulfilled. The trading of the shares of the Company was resumed on 25 January 2016.
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25.	 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENT

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Structured deposit 952,000 -

The amount represents a RMB denominated structured deposits place by the Group in the licensed commercial 
bank in the PRC, which without a fixed or determinable repayment at the maturity.

The structured deposit is classified as available-for-sale investment and stated at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses at the end of the reporting period because the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so 
significant that the directors of the Company are of the opinion that its fair value cannot be measured reliably.

26.	 AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) CUSTOMERS FOR CONTRACT WORK

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Contract costs incurred plus recognised profits less  
recognised losses to date 6,312,971 5,502,309

Less: Progress billings (4,799,184) (4,445,793)
1,513,787 1,056,516

Contract work in progress at the end of the reporting period:
Amounts due from customers for contract work 1,513,870 1,157,581
Amounts due to customers for contract work (83) (101,065)

1,513,787 1,056,516

The amounts due from (to) customers for contract work are all related to construction contracts in turnkey projects.

At 31 December 2015, retentions held by customers for contract works amounted to approximately 
RMB185,699,000 (2014: RMB88,719,000).

As of the date of the approval of the consolidated financial statements, amounts due from customers for 
contract work with amounts of approximately RMB315,449,000, RMB417,272,000 and RMB220,540,000 which 
were recognised by the Group on or before 31 December 2013, during the year ended 31 December 2014 and 2015 
respectively were still outstanding and no progress billings had been issued, representing approximately 29%, 63% 
and 63% of the balances of amounts due from customers for contract work as at 31 December 2013, 2014 and 2015 
were still outstanding and no progress billings had been issued.
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27. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash comprise cash with an original maturity of three months or less which are held with 
banks and carry interest at prevailing market rate is from 0.001% to 0.30% (2014: 0.001% to 0.35%) per annum at 
31 December 2015.

Bank balances and cash were mainly denominated in RMB which is not a fully convertible currency in the 
international market. The exchange rate of RMB is determined by the Government of the PRC and the remittance 
of these funds out of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions imposed by the Government of the PRC.

Bank balances and cash of the Group represent cash and cash equivalents of the Group.

Bank balances and cash that are denominated in currency other than the functional currency are set out below:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

United States Dollar (“US$”) 177,346 100,901
Singapore Dollar (“S$”) 7,012 78,106
Bangladeshi Taka (“BDT”) 2,250 14,189
Hong Kong Dollar (“HKD”) 424 12,313
Australian Dollar (“AUD”) 1,078 1,140
Japanese Yen (“JPY”) 4,803 347
Saudi Riyal (“SAR”) 875 -

Restricted bank balances

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Bills payables and banking facilities 430,226 105,394
Construction contracts 9,596 3,160
Forward contracts - 4,300
Merchandise agreements 10,228 -
Salaries payables 900 -

450,950 112,854

The restricted bank balances bear prevailing interest rate is 0.35%-0.39% (2014: 0.55%-1.54%) per annum at 
31 December 2015. The restricted bank balances will be released upon the completion of relevant contracts or 
maturity and settlement of related liabilities which are due within current operating cycle or within one year and 
are therefore classified as current assets.
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27.	 BANK BALANCES AND CASH (CONTINUED)

Restricted bank balances (continued)

The restricted bank balances that are denominated in currency other than the functional currency are set out 
below:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

US$ 15,940 10,356
S$ 20,641 20,871
JPY 10,228 3,160

28.	 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

The credit terms of trade payables vary according to the terms agreed with different suppliers. The following is an 
aged analysis of trade payables based on invoice issuance date at the end of each reporting period:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade payables
Within 90 days 778,432 510,716
91 days to 180 days 320,590 169,662
181 days to 1 year 474,867 148,758
1 to 2 years 225,854 202,979
2 to 3 years 156,769 57,861
More than 3 years 75,780 66,908

2,032,292 1,156,884

Bills payable within 180 days 153,190 123,550
Other payables 376,065 162,229
Borrowings interest payables 6,603 10,605
Senior notes interest and withholding tax payables (Note 33) 5,285 47,470
Bid and compliance deposits 43,764 27,112
Advance from customers 39,521 29,890
Value added tax payables 45,815 71,754
Business tax payables 215,309 173,966
Other tax payables 19,029 17,999

2,936,873 1,821,459

Trade payables principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and on-going costs.

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 90 days (2014: 90 days).
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29. BORROWINGS

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Secured bank borrowings (note i) 1,217,152 1,131,000
Borrowings from International Finance Corporation (note ii) - 277,021
Unsecured bank borrowings 2,686,498 1,312,917
Unsecured other borrowings 50,000 -

3,953,650 2,720,938
Carrying amount repayable (note iv):

Within one year 2,704,907 1,190,590
More than one year but not exceeding two years 295,525 401,502
More than two years but not exceeding five years 583,278 923,357
More than five years 369,940 205,489

3,953,650 2,720,938
Less: Amounts not repayable within one year from the end of the 

   reporting period but contain a repayment on demand clause - (65,220)
Amounts due within one year (2,704,907) (1,383,066)

Amounts shown under current liabilities (2,704,907) (1,448,286)
Amounts shown under non-current liabilities 1,248,743 1,272,652

The borrowings comprise:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Fixed-rate borrowings 475,000 70,000
Variable-rate borrowings (note iii) 3,478,650 2,650,938

3,953,650 2,720,938

The effective interest rates per annum at the end of each reporting period, are as follows:

2015 2014

Fixed-rate borrowings 3,311% ~ 7.000% 6.000% ~ 6.600%
Variable-rate borrowings 1.456% ~ 8.160% 1.981% ~ 8.160%

notes:

(i) At 31 December 2015, bank borrowings of approximately RMB72,000,000 (2014: RMB92,000,000) 
were mortgaged and secured by certain buildings and land use rights of the Group. Bank borrowings 
of approximately RMBNil (2014: RMB80,000,000) were secured by certain trade receivables of the 
Group. Bank borrowings of approximately RMB1,145,152,000 (2014: RMB909,000,000) were secured by 
certain BOT subsidiaries’ charging rights under the service concession contracts. Bank borrowing of 
approximately RMBNil (2014: RMB50,000,000) was secured by listed shares of a fellow subsidiary of the 
Company held by Sound Group.
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29.	 BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

notes: (continued)

(ii)	 Borrowings from International Finance Corporation (“IFC”) of approximately RMB277,021,000 
denominated in US$ at 31 December 2014 were advanced from IFC and secured by the equity interest 
in certain subsidiaries of the Company. The interest rate is 3.5% per annum above the relevant London 
Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) interest rate. The effective interest rate after considering the transaction 
costs (see Note 31) is 3.73% per annum. The borrowings were fully repaid on 19 November 2015. 

(iii)	 The interest rate of variable-rate bank borrowings of the Group was varied according to the loan interest 
published by the People’s Bank of China (“PBOC”) or LIBOR.

(iv)	 The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.

(v)	 At 31 December 2015, the Group has borrowings of approximately RMB1,605,498,000 (2014: 
RMB1,158,679,000) which where denominated in US$.

(vi)	 The borrowings at 31 December 2015 will be repayable from 2016 to 2027 (2014: 2015 to 2025).

30.	 CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES

The Company issued RMB885 million, 6% convertible loan notes on 15 September 2010. The convertible loan 
notes entitle the holders to convert them into ordinary shares of the Company (unless previously redeemed, 
converted or purchased and cancelled) at any time on or after 25 October 2010 up to the close of business on 8 
September 2015 at a conversion price (subject to adjustments) fixed in RMB. In 2012, the conversion price was 
adjusted to RMB3.384 per share as a result of the dividend declared by the Company according to the terms of 
the convertible loan notes agreement. Unless previously redeemed, purchased or cancelled, the convertible loan 
notes will be redeemed on 15 September 2015. Interest of 6% per annum will be paid semi-annually with the first 
interest payment date falling on 15 March 2011.

On or at any time after 15 September 2013, the Company may redeem all but not some of the convertible loan 
notes at a redemption price equivalent to RMB principal amount together with interest accrued on that date 
on some conditions (as defined in the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds in the Offering Circular dated 10 
September 2010 (the “Offering Circular”)). Meanwhile, the holders will have a right to require the Company to 
redeem the convertible loan notes following the occurrence of Relevant Event (as defined in the Offering Circular) 
at a redemption price equivalent to RMB principal amount together with interest accrued on that date.

The convertible loan notes contain two components, liability and equity elements. The equity element 
is presented in equity heading “convertible loan notes reserve”. The transaction costs of approximately 
RMB25,435,000 are allocated to the liability and equity components in proportion to the allocation of the gross 
proceeds at initial recognition. The effective interest rate of the liability component is 9% per annum.
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30. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (CONTINUED)

On 15 September 2012, the Company partially redeemed convertible loan notes of an aggregate principal amount 
of RMB263,000,000 at the option of the holders and the redemption price is equivalent to RMB principal amount 
together with interest accrued on that date. The consideration paid has been allocated between the liability 
and equity components of the convertible loan notes. The difference between the consideration allocated to 
the liability component and the carrying amount of the liability component is recognised as redemption loss of 
RMB117,000 which was charged to profit or loss.

On 20 November 2012 and 20 December 2012, the Company repurchased convertible loan notes with an 
aggregate principal amount of RMB15,000,000 and RMB7,000,000 respectively by way of an over-the-counter 
purchase at consideration of RMB15,010,000 and RMB7,042,000 respectively. The consideration paid has been 
allocated between the liability and equity components of the convertible loan notes. The difference between 
the consideration allocated to the liability component and the carrying amount of the liability component is 
recognised as redemption loss of RMB2,000 which was charged to profit or loss.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the entire convertible loan notes were converted into ordinary shares of 
the Company.

The movements of the liability component of the convertible loan notes for the year are set out below:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Carrying amount at 1 January - 583,647
Interest charge (Note 10) - 11,654
Interest paid - (13,002)
Conversion of convertible loan notes - (582,299)
Carrying amount at 31 December - -

31. WARRANTS

On 5 December 2011, the Company issued warrants to IFC as condition to draw down a borrowing of 
US$36,000,000 from IFC (the “IFC loan”). Each warrant carries the right for IFC to subscribe for one share at the 
initial exercise price of S$1.10 (subject to adjustments) per share until 4 December 2014.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the entire warrants were exercised at S$1.10 per share and 28,154,545 
shares of the Company were allotted and issued representing approximately 1.88% of the issued capital of the 
Company at 31 December 2014.

The warrants are derivatives and classified as financial liabilities at FVTPL. The warrants are issued in connection 
with the IFC loan and therefore considered as transaction costs directly attributable to the IFC loan. The fair 
value of the warrants at initial recognition amounting to approximately RMB7,953,000 was deducted against the 
proceed received from the IFC loan and included in estimating the effective interest of the IFC loan.
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32.	 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial assets
Fair value of foreign currency forward contracts - 2,716
Fair value of redemption options embedded in senior notes - 15,321
Amounts classified as current assets - 18,037

Financial liability
Fair value of a swap contract classified as non-current liability (note) 37,969 47,014

note:

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group has signed a swap contract with the Hong Kong and 
Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited (“HSBC”) and the contract will mature in 2017. Under the contract, the 
Group will receive fixed amounts and pay floating amounts (except for the first year which is fixed at 10.875% 
per annum) on a semi-annual basis. In respect of the swap contract, the Group entered into International Swaps 
and Derivatives Association Master Agreements with HSBC which is subject to an enforceable master netting 
arrangement.

33.	 SENIOR NOTES

On 6 August 2012, the Company issued guaranteed senior fixed rate notes to the public at par with the aggregated 
nominal value of US$150,000,000 (the “Senior Notes”) which carried at fixed interest rate of 11.875% per annum 
(interest payable semi-annually in arrears) and will be fully repayable by 10 August 2017.

The Senior Notes are listed on the HKEx. They are senior obligations of the Company and guaranteed by 
certain of the Company’s existing subsidiaries, other than (i) those organised under the laws of the PRC and (ii) 
Sound International Investment Holdings Limited. The guarantees are effectively subordinated to the secured 
obligations of each guarantor, to the extent of the value of the assets serving as security.

At any time on or after 10 August 2015, the Company may on any one or more occasions redeem all or any part of 
the Senior Notes, at the redemption prices (expressed as percentages of principal amount) set forth as below, plus 
accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the applicable date of redemption.

Year Redemption price

2015 105.9375%
2016 and thereafter 102.96875%

At any time prior to 10 August 2015, the Company may at its option redeem the Senior Notes, in whole but not 
in part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Senior Notes redeemed plus the 
Applicable Premium as of, and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the redemption date.
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33. SENIOR NOTES (CONTINUED)

Applicable Premium means, with respect to a Senior Note at any redemption date, the greater of (1) 1.00% of the 
principal amount of such Senior Note and (2) the excess of (A) the present value at such redemption date of the 
redemption price of such Senior Note at 10 August 2015, plus all required remaining scheduled interest payments 
due on such Senior Note through 10 August 2015 (but excluding accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption 
date), computed using a discount rate equal to the Adjusted Treasury Rate as disclosed in the offering circular 
dated 6 August 2012 plus 100 basis points, over (B) the principal amount of such Senior Note on such redemption 
date.

At any time and from time to time prior to 10 August 2015, the Company may, subject to certain conditions, at its 
option redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of the Senior Notes at a redemption price of 111.875% 
of the principal amount of the Senior Notes redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the redemption 
date.

The fair value of the redemption options embedded in Senior Notes is set out in Note 32.

Upon the occurrence of a change control triggering event, the Company is required to make an offer to 
repurchase all outstanding Senior Notes at a purchase price equal to 101% of their principal amount plus accrued 
and unpaid interest, if any, to the repurchase date.

If the Company or a guarantor would become obliged to pay certain additional amounts as a result of certain 
changes in specified tax laws, the Company may redeem the Senior Notes, in whole but not in part, at redemption 
price equal to 100% of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the date fixed by the 
Company for redemption.

The carrying amount of the Senior Notes on date of issuance is stated net of issue expenses totaling 
US$146,233,000, (equivalent to approximately RMB923,084,000) and the effective interest rate of the Senior Notes 
is 14.70% per annum.

The movements of the Senior Notes for the year ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 are set out below:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Carrying amount at beginning of the year 954,543 945,970
Interest charge (Note 10) 128,749 132,823
Interest paid (158,664) (120,098)
Redemption of senior notes (1,008,102) -
Loss on early redemption of senior notes 56,501 -
Exchange alignment 32,258 (4,152)
Carrying amount at end of the year 5,285 954,543
Less: Interest and withholding tax payables within one year
            included in payables shown under current liabilities (Note 28) (5,285) (47,470)

- 907,073
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33.	 SENIOR NOTES (CONTINUED)

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current portion - -
Current portion - 907,073

- 907,073

On 13 November 2015, the Senior Notes were redeemed in full and there were no outstanding Senior Notes in 
issue at 31 December 2015.

34.	 OBLIGATION UNDER FINANCE LEASE

The Group leased certain of its service concession arrangement’s plant and machinery under finance lease (Note 
21). The lease term is 6 years (2014: Nil). Interest rates underlying all obligations under finance are fixed at 5.64% 
(2014: Nil) per annum. The Group has options to purchase the plant and machinery for a nominal amount at the 
end of the lease term.

Minimum lease payments
Present value of minimum 

lease payments
2015 2014 2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Amounts payable under finance lease:
Within one year 6,059 - 3,914 -
In more than one year and not more than  

five years 31,614 - 26,537 -
In more than five years 9,879 - 9,587 -

47,552 - 40,038 -
Less: future finance charges (7,552) - - -
Present value of lease obligations 40,000 - 40,038 -

Less: Amount due for settlement within one  
         year (shown under current liabilities) (3,914) -

Amount due for settlement after one year 36,124 -

The Group’s obligation under finance lease is secured by the lessors’ title to the leased assets.
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35. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Assets with the following carrying amounts have been pledged to secure bank and other borrowings (Note 29) of 
the Group:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Land and buildings 26,627 27,321
Land use right 2,075 2,138
Service concession receivables 2,561,794 1,565,335
Trade receivable - 110,021

2,590,496 1,704,815

At 31 December 2015, the Group’s obligations under finance lease (Note 34) are secured by the lessors’ title to 
the leased plant and machinery classified as service concession receivables, which have carrying amounts of 
approximately RMB156,270,000 (2014: RMB Nil).

36. ISSUED CAPITAL

Number of shares RMB’000
Issued and paid up
At 1 January 2014 1,290,000,000 833,368
Conversion of convertible loan notes 177,296,876 640,325
Exercise of warrants 28,154,545 196,958
Exercise of share options 4,317,000 19,928

At 31 December 2014 1,499,768,421 1,690,579
Exercise of share options 6,437,000 29,725

At 31 December 2015 1,506,205,421 1,720,304

The Company has one class of ordinary shares with no par value and carries no right to fixed income.

The amount of issued capital represents the net proceeds from allotment of ordinary shares.
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37.	 ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Acquisitions of subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2015

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group acquired the entire equity interests in Fogang Sound Water 
Co., Ltd (“Fogang Sound”) (formerly known as Fogang Zhanyang Domestic Sewage Treatment Co., Ltd), Bazhong 
Sound Water Co., Ltd (formerly known as Bazhong Best Environment Investment Co., Ltd.), Xingping City Hualu 
Water Co., Ltd (“Xingping Hualu”), Advanced Resources Holdings Pte. Ltd. (“Advanced Resources”), Advanced 
Water Engineering Pte. Ltd. (“Advanced Engineering”) and their respective subsidiaries from independent third 
parties for an aggregate consideration of approximately RMB144,463,000.

These subsidiaries are mainly engaged in (i) BOT contracts on management and operation of wastewater projects 
located in Fogang, Bazhong, Xingping and Chengdu under service concession arrangements with remaining 
service concession periods of 14 to 20 years, (ii) own, management and operation of water supply projects located 
in Pengxi under service concession arrangement with remaining service concession periods of 43 years, and (iii) 
construction in the PRC.

The acquisitions have been accounted for using the acquisition method. There was gain on bargain purchase 
arising from these acquisitions.

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the dates of acquisitions are as follows:

Fair value
RMB’000

Property, plant and equipment 36,273
Service concession receivables 209,007
Deferred tax assets 5,840
Inventories 3,131
Trade and other receivables 46,647
Bank balances and cash 39,123
Trade and other payables (166,053)
Borrowings (5,600)
Deferred tax liabilities (696)

167,672
Gain on bargain purchase (23,209)
Total consideration 144,463
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37. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Acquisitions of subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

RMB’000
Satisfied by:
Cash 128,588
Deferred consideration 15,875

144,463
 

Net cash outflow arising from these acquisitions:
Consideration paid in cash 128,588
Bank balances and cash acquired (39,123)

89,465

Included in the Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2015, is a net profit of approximately RMB12,116,000 
and revenue of approximately RMB23,612,000 attributable to these acquired companies.

Had the acquisitions taken place at beginning of the year, the revenue and net profit of the Group for the year 
ended 31 December 2015 would have been approximately RMB43,951,000 and RMB15,554,000 respectively.

Acquisition-related costs amounting to approximately RMB170,000 have been excluded from the consideration 
transferred and have been recognised as an expense in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The fair value of trade receivables at the dates of acquisitions is approximately RMB46,647,000 and the gross 
contractual amount is approximately RMB47,216,000. The best estimate at the dates of acquisitions of the 
contractual cash flows not expected to be collected is approximately RMB569,000.

Acquisitions of subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2014

On 30 September 2014 and 31 October 2014, the Group acquired the entire equity interests in two BOT companies 
which are Shandong Chengwu Yingyuan Industrial Co., Ltd. and Luoyuan Beimei Stage 2 Sewage Treatment Co., 
Ltd. and one BT company which is Luoyuan Beimei Sewage Treatment Co., Ltd. from independent third parties, 
for an aggregate consideration of approximately RMB59,521,000. The acquisitions have been accounted for using 
the acquisition method. There was gain on bargain purchase arising from these acquisitions. The three BOT 
companies are mainly engaged in management and operation of wastewater projects located in Shandong and 
Fujian under three service concession arrangements with remaining service concession periods of 26 to 32 years.
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37.	 ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Acquisitions of subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2014 (continued)

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the dates of acquisitions are as follows:

Fair value
RMB’000

Property, plant and equipment 255
Intangible assets 9,733
Service concession receivables 105,397
Trade and other receivables 1,347
Bank balances and cash 1,077
Trade and other payables (32,916)
Borrowings (18,483)
Deferred tax liabilities (1,631)

64,779
Gain on bargain purchase (5,258)
Total consideration 59,521

Satisfied by:
Cash 52,490
Deferred consideration 7,031

59,521

Net cash outflow arising from these acquisitions:
Consideration paid in cash 52,490
Bank balances and cash acquired (1,077)

51,413

Included in the Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2014, is a net profit of approximately RMB1,562,000 
and revenue of approximately RMB4,128,000 attributable to the three acquired BOT companies.

Had the acquisitions taken place at beginning of the year, the revenue and net profit of the Group for the year 
ended 31 December 2014 would have been approximately RMB3,570,561,000 and RMB503,902,000 respectively.
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37. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Acquisitions of subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2014 (continued)

Acquisition-related costs amounting to approximately RMB142,000 have been excluded from the consideration 
transferred and have been recognised as an expense in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The fair value and gross contractual amount for trade and other receivables at the dates of acquisitions are both 
approximately RMB1,347,000, of which the best estimate at the dates of acquisitions of the contractual cash flows 
are expected to be fully collectable.

38. TRANSACTION WITH NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST

Disposal of shareholding in Fuqing Sound Water Co., Ltd (“Fuqing Sound”)

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement with an 
independent third party to dispose 49% of the entire issued share capital of Fuqing Sound, at a total cash 
consideration of  approximately RMB7,066,000.

As a result of the disposal, the Group owns 51% of Fuqing Sound. The disposal was completed on 14 August 2015. 
There was no carrying amount of the non-controlling interest in Fuqing.

RMB’000

Consideration from non-controlling interests 7,066
Amount recognised as non-controlling interests (7,066)
Movement on disposed within equity -

The total cash consideration of approximately RMB7,066,000 was settled by other receivables of Fuqing Sound 
from the Group.
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39.	 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern 
while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balances. The 
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings, obligation under finance 
lease, senior notes and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued capital, retained earnings 
and other reserves.

The Group monitors capital with reference to its debt position. The Group’s strategy was to maintain the equity 
and debt in a balanced position and ensure there were adequate working capital to service its debt obligation.

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Borrowings (current) 2,704,907 1,448,286
Borrowings (non-current) 1,248,743 1,272,652
Obligation under finance lease (current) 3,914 -
Obligation under finance lease (non-current) 36,124 -
Senior notes (current) - 907,073
Total debts 3,993,688 3,628,011

Bank balances and cash 769,719 1,968,239

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 4,713,576 4,239,737

Net debt Net debt Net debt

Total debt to equity ratio 0.85 0.86

The Group’s management reviews the capital structure on an on-going basis. As part of the review, the 
management considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The Group will 
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as 
well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

40a. Categories of financial instruments

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial assets
Loans and receivables

Service concession receivables 5,608,467 3,112,135
Trade receivables 1,568,506 1,186,274
Bills receivable 13,100 18,000
Bid and compliance deposits 251,696 78,755
Other receivables 399,620 2,114,125
Restricted bank balances 450,950 112,854
Bank balances and cash 769,719 1,968,239

9,062,058 8,590,382

Available-for-sale financial asset
Structured deposit 952,000 -

Fair value through profit or loss
Foreign currency forward contracts - 2,716
Redemption option embedded in senior notes - 15,321

- 18,037
Total 10,014,058 8,608,419

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Trade payables 2,032,292 1,156,884
Bills payable 153,190 123,550
Other payables 375,938 162,229
Borrowings interest payables 6,603 10,605
Senior notes interest payables - 47,470
Bid and compliance deposits 43,764 27,112
Borrowings 3,953,650 2,720,938
Senior notes - 907,073

6,565,437 5,155,861

Fair value through profit or loss
Swap contract 37,969 47,014

Total 6,603,406 5,202,875
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40.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

40b.	 Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and other receivables, service concession receivables, trade 
and other payables, borrowings, convertible loan notes, senior notes, warrants, derivative financial instruments, 
restricted bank balances, bank balances and cash. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in the 
respective notes.

The risks associated with these financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set 
out below. The management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are 
implemented on a timely and effective manner. The Group’s objectives, policies and processes managing the risk 
and the methods used to measure the risk remains unchanged from prior year.

Credit risk management

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss due to failure to discharge an 
obligation by the counterparties arises from the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as 
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at the end of each reporting period.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for 
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is 
taken to recover overdue debts. The amounts presented in the consolidated statement of financial position are net 
of allowances for doubtful receivables, if any, estimated by the Group’s management based on prior experience 
and the current economic environment. The Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual debt at the 
end of each reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In 
this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group’s credit risk primarily relates to the Group’s trade and other receivables, service concession receivables 
and bank balances. There is no significant concentration of credit risk as the top five largest customers account for 
approximately 27% (2014: 25%) of the carrying amount of trade receivables at 31 December 2015. The management 
of the Group generally grants credit only to customers with good credit ratings and also closely monitors overdue 
trade debts. The recoverable amount of each individual trade receivable is reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period and adequate impairment for doubtful debts has been made for irrecoverable amounts.

The Group is exposed to the concentration of credit risk on its service concession receivables as approximately 
22% (2014: 33%) of the carrying amount of service concession receivables at 31 December 2015 are from top five 
largest grantors which are government bodies in the PRC. The directors of the Company consider that the 
associated credit risk is low as the corresponding grantors are all government bodies in the PRC, which either pay 
or guarantee the payments to the Group.

The credit risk in relation to the Group’s bank balances is not significant as the corresponding banks are 
reputable financial institutions.
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

40b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk management

The Group’s activities expose primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and 
interest rates. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management manages and 
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

(i) Foreign currency risk management

The Group undertakes certain financing and treasury transactions in foreign currencies. Hence, exposures 
to exchange rate fluctuations arise. The management manages its currency risk by closely monitoring the 
movement of the foreign currency rates and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure 
should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of foreign currency denominated monetary assets of restricted bank balances and 
bank balances and cash and monetary liabilities of borrowings and senior notes that are denominated in 
currencies other than the respective group entities functional currencies at the end of the reporting period 
are as follows:

Liabilities Assets
2015 2014 2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

S$ 1,858 835 27,961 88,807
US$ 1,643,615 2,066,108 193,287 122,012
BDT - - 2,250 14,784
HKD 1,228 - 802 12,485
AUD - - 1,078 1,140
JPY - - 15,033 407
SAR - - 1,892 -
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40.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

40b.	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk management (continued)

(i)	 Foreign currency risk management (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in functional currency against 
the relevant foreign currency. 10% is the sensitivity rate used and represents management’s assessment of 
the possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign 
currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting period 
for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. A negative number below indicates a decrease in profit where 
functional currency strengthens 10% against the relevant currency. For a 10% weakening of the functional 
currency against the relevant currency, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit or loss.

Profit for the year
2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000

S$ (2,610) (8,797)
US$ 145,033 194,410
BDT 225 (1,478)
HKD 43 (1,248)
AUD (108) (114)
JPY (1,503) (41)
SAR (189) -
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

40b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk management (continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk management

The Group is mainly exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to its fixed-rate borrowings and 
senior notes (see Notes 29 and 33 for details).

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to their variable-rate borrowing and 
bank balances which carry prevailing market interest rates. The Group’s exposures to interest rates on 
financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management section of this note. The Group’s cash 
flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of loan interest published by PBOC and 
LIBOR.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for non-
derivative instruments at the end of the reporting period. The sensitivity analyses below have been 
determined based on the exposure to interest rates for variable interest rate borrowings. Bank balances 
are excluded from the sensitivity analyses since the management of the Group considered that they are 
not sensitive to fluctuation in interest rate. The analysis is prepared assuming the variable interest rate 
borrowings outstanding at the end of the reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis 
point increase or decrease represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in 
interest rates.

If interest rates had been increased/decreased by 50 basis points and all other variables were held 
constant, the Group’s profit for the year would decrease/increase by approximately RMB13,703,000 (2014: 
RMB10,398,000) for the year ended 31 December 2015.
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40.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

40b.	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Liquidity risk management

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents 
deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in 
cash flows. The management monitors the utilisation of borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The following table details the remaining contractual maturity for non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables 
have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on 
which the Group can be required to pay. To the extent that interest flows are variable-rate, the undiscounted 
amount is derived from interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

Weighted
average

interest rate
On

demand
Within

one year
1 – 5

years
Over

5 years

Total
undiscounted

cash flow
Carrying

amount
% RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 31 December 2015
Trade payables - - 2,032,292 - - 2,032,292 2,032,292
Bills payable - - 153,190 - - 153,190 153,190
Other payables - - 375,938 - - 375,938 375,938
Bid and compliance 

deposits - - 43,764 - - 43,764 43,764
Borrowings

Fixed-rate 4.86 - 380,397 79,921 88,831 549,149 475,000
Variable-rate 4.01 - 2,456,774 1,053,203 373,312 3,883,289 3,485,253

Total - 5,442,355 1,133,124 462,143 7,037,622 6,565,437

At 31 December 2014
Trade payables - - 1,156,884 - - 1,156,884 1,156,884
Bills payable - - 123,550 - - 123,550 123,550
Other payables - - 162,229 - - 162,229 162,229
Bid and compliance 

deposits - - 27,112 - - 27,112 27,112
Senior notes 11.875 - 112,579 1,285,766 - 1,398,345 954,543
Borrowings

Fixed-rate 6.26 - 71,729 - - 71,729 70,000
Variable-rate 5.22 65,220 1,159,680 1,395,225 234,357 2,854,482 2,661,543

Total 65,220 2,813,763 2,680,991 234,357 5,794,331 5,155,861
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

40b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Liquidity risk management (continued)

The table that follows summarises the maturity analysis of term loans not repayable within one year but with 
a repayment on demand clause based on agreed scheduled repayments set out in the loan agreements. The 
amounts include interest payments computed using contractual rates. As a result, these amounts were greater 
than the amounts disclosed in the “on demand” time band in the maturity analysis. Taking into account 
the Group’s financial position, the directors do not consider that it is probable that the bank will exercise 
its discretion to demand immediate repayment. The directors believe that such term loans will be repaid in 
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.

Weighted
average

interest rate
Within

one year
1 - 5

years
Over

5 years

Total
undiscounted

cash flow
Carrying

amount
% RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 31 December 2015 - - - - - -

At 31 December 2014 7.41 34,708 41,950 - 76,658 65,220

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are 
subject to change if changes in variable interest rates differ from those estimates of interest rates determined at 
the end of the reporting period.
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40.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

40c.	 Fair value measurements of financial instruments

(i)	� Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis

The Group’s derivatives are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The following 
table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets and financial liabilities are 
determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used), as well as the level of the fair value 
hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are categorised (levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to 
which the inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.

Financial assets/
financial liabilities Fair value at (RMB’000)

Fair value 
hierarchy

Valuation technique(s) 
and key input(s)

Significant 
unobservable 

input(s)

Relationship 
of 

unobservable 
inputs to fair 

value

2015 2014

1) Foreign currency 
forward contracts 
classified as derivative 
financial instruments 
in the consolidated 
statement of financial 
position

N/A Assets
2,716

Level 2 Discounted cash flows. 
Future cash flows are 
estimated based on 
forward exchange rates 
(from observable forward 
exchange rates at the end 
of the reporting period) 
and contracted forward 
rates, discounted at a rate 
that reflects the credit risk 
of various counterparties.

N/A N/A



90

for the year ended 31 December 2015for the year ended 31 December 2015

notes to the consolidated   notes to the consolidated   fffnotes to the consolidated   notes to the consolidated   fnotes to the consolidated   notes to the consolidated   inancial statementsinancial statementsffinancial statementsff

sound global ltd.   

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

40c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

(i)  Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis (continued)

Financial assets/
financial liabilities Fair value at (RMB’000)

Fair value 
hierarchy

Valuation technique(s) 
and key input(s)

Significant 
unobservable 

input(s)

Relationship 
of 

unobservable 
inputs to fair 

value

2015 2014

2) Swap contract 
classified as derivative 
financial instruments 
in the consolidated 
statement of financial 
position

Liabilities
37,969

Liabilities
47,014

Level 2 (i) Discounted cash flow is 
used to determine the first 
year’s payoff which is fixed.
(ii) Black-Scholes pricing 
model and discounted 
cash flows are used to 
determine the fair value 
of the remaining term 
of the swap which can 
be seen as 7 separated 
index call options minus 
fixed cash flow payments. 
The key inputs are 
HSBC MacroEconomic 
Treasury Yield Spread 
Volatility Budgeted Index 
as mentioned in the swap 
contract, the expected 
volatility of the index, risk 
free rate and discount rate.

N/A N/A

3) Redemption option 
embedded in senior 
notes classified as 
derivative financial 
instruments in the 
consolidated statement 
of financial position

N/A Assets
15,321

Level 2 The Hull-White Trinomial 
Tree Model in software 
called FINCAD was used. 
The key inputs are Mean-
Reversion Rate, Short-Rate 
Volatility Option Adjusted 
Spread and market yield 
curve.

N/A N/A

There is no transfer between level 2 and level 3 during the current and prior years.
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40.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

40c.	 Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

(ii)	 Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis (but fair value disclosures are required)

Except as detailed in the following table, the directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts 
of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial 
statements approximate their fair values:

2015 2014
Carrying 

amount Fair value
Carrying 

amount Fair value
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial liabilities
Senior notes (note a) - - 954,543 1,001,348

note:

(a)	 The fair value hierarchy of the fair value of the senior notes are included in the level 1. The fair 
values of the financial liabilities included in the level 1 category above have been determined using 
the quoted bid prices in an active market.

41.	 OPERATING LEASES COMMITMENTS

Lease payment recognised as an expense:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Minimum lease payments paid under operating lease 
recognised as an expense in the year 3,782 4,089

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has outstanding commitments under non-cancellable operating 
leases, which fall due as follows:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Within one year 2,201 1,633
In the second to fifth years inclusive 1,535 961

3,736 2,594

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its office properties. Leases are 
negotiated for lease terms of one to two years and rentals are fixed for lease terms of one to two years.
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42. CAPITAL COMMITMENT

The Group had the following capital commitment at the end of the reporting period:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Construction of buildings:
   Contracted but not provided for 48,850 -

43. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Group’s full-time employees in the PRC and Singapore are respectively covered by a government-sponsored 
defined contribution pension scheme and a comprehensive social security savings plan, which includes 
a retirement scheme. The employees are entitled to a monthly pension from their retirement dates. The PRC 
Government and Singapore Government are responsible for the pension liability to these retired employees. The 
Group is required to make annual contributions to the retirement plans of a prescribed amount of employees’ 
salaries, which are charged as an expense when the employees have rendered services entitling them to the 
contributions.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the total amounts contributed by the Group to the schemes and charged 
to profit or loss represent contributions payable to the schemes by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the 
schemes and are as follows:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Contributions to defined contribution plan 23,633 17,495

At 31 December 2015, the contribution due in respect of the year that had not been paid to the schemes is 
approximately RMB151,000 (2014: RMB311,000).
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44.	 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(A) Sound Global Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”)

The Scheme was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 30 April 2010, for the primary purpose of providing 
an opportunity for employees and directors (including independent non-executive directors) of the Company to 
participate in the equity of the Company so as to motivate them to greater dedication and higher standards of 
performance, and to give recognition to past contribution and services. The total number of shares in respect of 
which options may be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company 
immediately following its completion of the HKEx Listing, without prior approval from the Company’s 
shareholders. The number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which options granted and may be 
granted to any individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue 
at any point in time, without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. Persons who are controlling 
shareholders (being persons who directly or indirectly have an interest of 15% of the number of issued shares 
of the Company) or their associates shall not participate in the Scheme unless their participation and the actual 
number of shares to be issued to them and the terms of any options to be granted to them, have been approved 
by independent shareholders of the Company in general meeting by way of a separate resolution for each such 
person.

At 31 December 2015, the number of shares in respect of which options had been granted under the Scheme was 
88,205,000 (2014: 90,000,000) representing 5.86% (2014: 6.00%) of the shares of the Company in issue at that date.

Details of the options are as follows:

Date of grant Vesting period Exercise period Exercise price

9 December 2014 #1 #2 HK$8.11

#1 Vesting period is from 9 December 2014 to the 7th day after the Company announced its annual results for the 
financial year ending 31 December 2016.

#2 Exercisable period is from the 8th day after the Company announced its annual results for each of the 
financial years ended/ending 31 December 2014, 2015 and 2016 to 30 September 2017.

Upon the participant ceasing to be in the full-time employment of the Group, the options shall, to the extent 
unexercised, immediately forfeited. The exercise of the options granted under the Scheme is also subject to the 
following conditions:

(a)	 The options will be exercisable in three tranches over three financial years in total of not more than, 40%, 
70% and 100%, upon fulfilling the condition (as denoted in item (b) below), and

(b)	 The growth rate for net profit, based on net profit for the financial year ended 31 December 2013, must 
be at least 35%, 85% and 150% for the financial years ending 31 December 2014, 2015 and 2016 respectively, 
excluding all exceptional items in the statement of profit or loss. If the growth rate for net profit cannot 
be achieved in a particular financial year, the exercisable options allocated for that financial year shall be 
lapsed automatically.
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44. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(A) Sound Global Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) (continued)

Movements in the share options in the year ended 31 December 2015 are as follow:

Date of grant

Outstanding at 
1 January

2015
Granted

during 2015
Forfeited

during 2015
Exercised

during 2015

Outstanding at 
31 December

2015

9 December 2014 90,000,000 - (1,795,000) - 88,205,000

Exercisable at the end 
of the year -

Weighted average 
exercise price HK$8.11 N/A N/A N/A HK$8.11

Movements in the share options in the year ended 31 December 2014 are as follow:

Date of grant

Outstanding at 
1 January

2014
Granted

during 2014
Forfeited

during 2014
Exercised

during 2014

Outstanding at 
31 December

2014

9 December 2014 - 90,000,000 - - 90,000,000

Exercisable at the end 
of the year -

Weighted average 
exercise price N/A HK$8.11 N/A N/A HK$8.11

The Group has not recognised any share-based payment expenses for the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: Nil) 
in relation to the share option granted by the Company.
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44.	 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(B) Epure Share Option Scheme (the “Epure Scheme”)

The Group adopted the Epure Scheme on 15 August 2007 and the Epure Scheme was terminated upon listing on 
the HKEx. No further options are available for issue under the Epure Scheme at 31 December 2015.

At 31 December 2015, no shares options had been granted under the Epure Scheme (2014: 64,500,000, representing 
4.30% of the shares of the Company in issue at that date).

Details of the options are as follows:

Date of grant Vesting period Exercise period Exercise price

23 July 2010 23 July 2010 to 22 July 2014 23 July 2011 to 22 July 2015 S$0.745

Upon the participant ceasing to be in the full-time employment of the Group, the options shall, to the extent 
unexercised, immediately lapse. The exercise of the options granted under the Epure Scheme is also subject to 
the following conditions:

(a)	 The options will be exercisable in four equal tranches, commencing one year from the date of grant and 
on each anniversary of the date of grant up to fifth anniversary;

(b)	 The increase in profit after tax for each of the financial years ended 31 December 2013 and 2014 must be at 
least 10% excluding all exceptional items; and

(c)	 The compounded growth rate for profit after tax, based on profit after tax for the financial year ended 31 
December 2009, for each of the financial years ended 31 December 2010, 2011, 2012 and 2013 must be at 
least 25%, 25%, 15% and 15% respectively, excluding all exceptional items.

Movements in the share options in the year ended 31 December 2015 are as follow:

Date of grant

Outstanding at  
1 January

2015
Granted

during 2015
Forfeited

during 2015
Exercised

during 2015

Outstanding at 
31 December

2015

23 July 2010 27,845,400 - (21,408,400) (6,437,000) -

Exercisable at the end 
of the year -

Weighted average 
exercise price S$0.745 N/A S$0.745 S$0.745 N/A
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44. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(B) Epure Share Option Scheme (the “Epure Scheme”) (continued)

Movements in the share options in the year ended 31 December 2014 are as follow:

Date of grant

Outstanding at 
1 January

2014
Granted

during 2014
Forfeited

during 2014
Exercised

during 2014

Outstanding at 
31 December

2014

23 July 2010 32,504,400 - (342,000) (4,317,000) 27,845,400

Exercisable at the end 
of the year 27,845,400

Weighted average 
exercise price S$0.745 N/A S$0.745 S$0.745 S$0.745

The Group has not recognised any share-based payment expenses for the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: 
RMB1,225,000) in relation to the share options granted by the Company.

The number of the share options granted expected to vest has been reduced to reflect directors’ best estimation at 
the end of the reporting period and accordingly the share option expense has been adjusted.

The Binomial model has been used to estimate the fair value of the options. The variables and assumptions used 
in computing the fair value of the share options are based on the directors’ best estimate. The value of an option 
varies with different variables of certain subjective assumptions.

Expected volatility was determined with reference to the historical price volatility data from the date of valuation 
back to the period equal to the life of option. As the Company has a trading history shorter than the life of option 
and thus, the calculation of volatility is based on the longest available historical pricing data.

Granted to Employees Directors
Grant date 9 December 2014 9 December 2014
Stock price HK$7.27 HK$7.27
Strike price HK$8.11 HK$8.11
Risk free rate 0.681% 0.681%
Amortised dividend yield 0.853% 0.853%
Expected volatility 42.446% 42.446%
Exercise multiple 1.60 2.47
Post-vesting exit rate 9% 0%
Unit option value 1.46-1.69 1.69

179,618 161,424
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45.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Some of the transactions and arrangements of the Group are with related parties. Unless otherwise stated, the 
balances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Name of party Relationship
Sound Group Companies under common control of Mr. Wen Yibo
Tus-Sound Environmental Resources Co. Ltd  

(“Tus-Sound”)
Mr. Wen Yibo act as  legal representative and director

(a)	 During the financial year, the Group entered into the following significant transactions with related 
parties:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue from engineering, procurement and construction 
contracts

Sound Group and its subsidiaries 147,767 71,556
Tus-Sound and its subsidiaries 21,457 139,441

169,224 210,997

Revenue from sales of goods
Sound Group and its subsidiaries 504 7,337

Revenue from design service
Sound Group and its subsidiaries 3,536 -
Tus-Sound and its subsidiaries 3,154 13,983

6,690 13,983

Equipment procurement
Tus-Sound and its subsidiaries 10,818 824

Purchase of transportation vehicles 
Tus-Sound and its subsidiaries - 202

Disposal of property, plant and equipment
Tus-Sound and its subsidiaries 11 -

The terms for the above transactions are negotiated and mutually agreed between the respective parties.
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45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b) At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following balances with related parties:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade receivables
Sound Group and its subsidiaries 119,054 2,866
Tus-Sound and its subsidiaries 26,925 8,763

145,979 11,629

Amounts due from customers for contract work
Tus-Sound and its subsidiaries - 21,773

Other receivables

Sound Group and its subsidiaries - 2,000,000
Tus-Sound and its subsidiaries 400 -

Directors:
Mr. Wang - 201
Jiang Anping 32 31

432 2,000,232

The maximum balance outstanding for amounts due from Mr. Wang and Jiang Anping during the year 
was approximately RMB201,000 and RMB32,000 (2014: RMB255,000 and RMB100,000) respectively. 
Mr. Wang was resigned as executive director and removed as chief financial officer of the Company on 18 
December 2015 (See Note 13 for details).

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Advance from customers
Sound Group and its subsidiaries 153 -
Tus-Sound and its subsidiaries 9,168 -

9,321 -

Trade payables
Tus-Sound and its subsidiaries 11,676 -

Other payables
Sound Group and its subsidiaries 20,660 -

Director:
Luo Liyang 121 10

20,781 10

The maximum balance outstanding for amount due to Luo Liyang during the year was approximately 
RMB121,000 (2014: RMB115,000).
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45.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(d)	 Compensation of key management personnel

The emoluments of key management during the year including the directors and chief executive disclosed 
in Note 13 were as follows:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Wages and salaries 2,356 2,187
Performance related incentive payments 24 310
Contributions to defined contribution plan 243 200
Share-based payments - 295

2,623 2,992

(e)	 Guarantees

At the end of the reporting period, borrowings amounting to approximately RMB1,579,725,000 (2014: 
RMB854,920,000) of the Group were guaranteed by Sound Group. The borrowings include the bank 
borrowing of approximately RMBNil (2014: RMB50,000,000) secured by listed shares of a fellow 
subsidiary of the Company held by Sound Group.

At the end of the reporting period, bank borrowings amounting to approximately RMBNil (2014: 
RMB663,604,000) of Sound Global (Hong Kong) Limited were jointly guaranteed by the Company, Sound 
International Engineering Ltd, Sound International Investment Holdings Ltd and Epure International 
Engineering Pte Ltd.

(f )	 Licensing of trademarks

Since 2002, the Group (previously being registered owner of certain trademarks) uses its trademarks for 
its water and wastewater treatment business. These trademarks are also used by Sound Group for its 
investments in environmental protection and its subsidiary, Beijing Sound Water Technology Co., Ltd., for 
the processing of purified drinking water at no consideration before March 2006.

In March 2006, the Group agreed to transfer the trademarks for free to Sound Group pursuant to a 
Trademarks Transfer Agreement dated 23 March 2006. Sound Group will in return grant the Group the 
right to use the trademarks for a period of up to 50 years at nil consideration.
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45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(g) Trust Agreement and Supplemental Trust Agreement

As set out in Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company entered into the Trust 
Agreement and the Supplemental Trust Agreement with Sound Group.

As Sound Group is a connected party to the Company under the definition of the Listing Rules, the 
directors of the Company has reviewed that Trust Agreement and the Supplemental Trust Agreement and 
considered that Sound Group is merely in essence and in substance acting as an agent for the Proposed 
Acquisition and therefore were not “standalone” or “separate” transactions subject to the requirements 
of the relevant Listing Rules. However, there may be uncertainty relating to the outcome of the discretion 
of the HKEx as to whether the Proposed Acquisition, the Trust Agreement and the Supplemental Trust 
Agreement would fall into the disclosure requirements of the Listing Rules. On the other hand, the 
directors of the Company considered the effect of this potential non-compliance of the Listing Rule was 
adequately reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

46. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(a) Development of the 2015 Suspension

As set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company’s shares have been suspended 
from trading on the HKEx with effect from 16 March 2015. The HKEx has set out Resumption Conditions 
in respect of the resumption of trading in the Company’s share on the HKEx.

The Company announced on 21 January 2016 that according to the Internal Control Report, PKF had 
come to a conclusion that from their review of the Group’s implementation of the proposed measures, its 
enquiries, observations and discussions with the management of the Company, as well as its examination 
of relevant documents and records, the Company had put in place adequate financial reporting 
procedures and internal control systems to meet the obligations under the Listing Rules.

Having considered the Internal Control Report, the Board was of the view that the Company’s financial 
reporting procedures and internal control systems were sufficient to meet the obligations under the 
Listing Rules.

The Company further announced on 21 January 2016 that all of the Resumption Conditions imposed by 
the HKEx had been fulfilled. The trading of the shares of the Company was resumed on 25 January 2016.
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46.	 EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD (CONTINUED)

(b)	 The 13 April 2016 announcement

On 13 April 2016, the Company announced that, under Rule 8(1) of the Securities and Futures (Stock 
Market Listing) Rules, the Commission has directed HKEx to suspend all dealings in the shares of the 
Company with effect from 9:00am on 13 April 2016. 

The 2 June 2017 announcement

On 2 June 2017, the Company announced that the finance department of the Company discovered on 31 
May 2017 that some of the financial documents of the Company were missing. The Company was now in 
the course of verifying the relevant details.

The 19 June 2017 announcement

On 19 June 2017, the Company announced that the finance department of the Company reported that on 
25 November 2016, an accident occurred when some of the financial documents of the Company were 
being transported to a new file storage facility and as a result, some of the financial documents of the 
Company were lost and/or damaged. The Company is now in the course of verifying the relevant details 
and ascertaining the scope of loss.

The 24 July 2017 and 13 September 2017 announcements

On 24 July 2017 and 13 September 2017, the Company announced that the reason of the 2016 Suspension 
was that the Commission had found that the bank balances of 5 bank accounts of the subsidiaries of the 
Company as at 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2013 were materially overstated by around RMB2.1 
billion and RMB2.7 billion respectively. As at the date of the respective announcement, the Commission 
had not received from the Company any submission or representation which can satisfactorily explain 
such material discrepancies in the Group’s bank balances.

The Company further announced that on 19 January 2017, the Company engaged the Reviewer to perform 
investigation services to the Company in respect of the above. The Reviewer will provide the Company 
with an independent investigation report to summarise the findings and recommendations to the 
Company. Further announcement will be made on the findings by the Reviewer when the independent 
investigation report has been received and assessed by the Board.
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46. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD (CONTINUED)

(b) (continued)

The 26 September 2017 announcement

On 26 September 2017, the Company announced that as at the date of this announcement, the Reviewer 
was continuing to perform investigation services to the Company in respect of the above, and its report on 
the said investigation was expected to be finalised in or around early October 2017. Notwithstanding the 
fact the Company had been actively assisting the Reviewer, the Company was given to understand from 
the Reviewer that based on the information provided by external parties in response to its enquiries, the 
findings of the Reviewer may not be adequate to satisfactorily address the concerns of the Commission. 
The Company was discussing with the Reviewer in relation to further possible works and procedures to be 
undertaken by the Reviewer in order to address the above.

The 16 October 2017 announcement

On 16 October 2017, the Company announced that as at the date of this announcement, the Reviewer was 
continuing to perform investigation services to the Company in respect of the above, and its report on 
the said investigation was expected to be finalised in or around late October 2017. Notwithstanding the 
fact the Company had been actively assisting the Reviewer, the Company was given to understand from 
the Reviewer that based on the information provided by external parties in response to its enquiries, the 
findings of the Reviewer may not be adequate to satisfactorily address the concerns of the Commission. 
The Company was discussing with the Reviewer in relation to further possible works and procedures to be 
undertaken by the Reviewer in order to address the above.

The 6 and 17 November 2017 announcements

On 6 and 17 November 2017, the Company announced that as at the date of the respective announcement, 
the Reviewer was continuing to perform investigation services to the Company in respect of the above, 
and based on the progress of the works of the Reviewer, it was expected that its report on the said 
investigation would be finalised in or around late November 2017. Notwithstanding the fact the Company 
has been actively assisting the Reviewer, the Company was given to understand from the Reviewer that 
based on the information provided by external parties in response to its enquiries, the findings of the 
Reviewer may not be adequate to satisfactorily address the concerns of the Commission. The Company 
was discussing with the Reviewer in relation to further possible works and procedures to be undertaken 
by the Reviewer in order to address the above.

The 27 December 2017 announcement

As at the date of this announcement, the Reviewer is continuing to perform investigation services to 
the Company in respect of the above, and its report on the said investigation is expected to be finalised 
in or around mid-January 2018. Notwithstanding the fact the Company has been actively assisting 
the Reviewer, the Company was given to understand from the Reviewer that based on the information 
provided by external parties in response to its enquiries, the findings of the Reviewer may not be adequate 
to satisfactorily address the concerns of the Commission. The Company is currently discussing with the 
Reviewer in relation to further possible works and procedures to be undertaken by the Reviewer in order 
to address the above. 
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46.	 EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD (CONTINUED)

(b)	 (continued)

The 26 January 2018 announcement

On 26 January 2018, the Company announced that the investigation was completed and a finalised 
investigation report was received from the Reviewer (the “Investigation Report”) on 12 January 2018. The 
Company is currently reviewing the Investigation Report and seeking professional advice in respect of the 
findings and conclusion of the Reviewer.

The 1 February 2018 announcement

On 1 February 2018, the Company announced that on 8 January 2018, the Reviewer issued a report on its 
findings.

Work performed by the Reviewer

The Reviewer has performed the following investigation works:-

1.	 verifying the bank balances of the Group as at 31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014 by obtaining 
confirmations from the relevant banks;

2.	 comparing the balances shown in the bank statements and bank reconciliation statements 
provided by the Company as at 31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014 against the records maintained by 
the finance department of the Group (the “Finance Department”); and

3.	 conducting matching tests on a series of randomly selected bank transactions of the Group for the 
financial years ended 31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014 and examining and comparing the relevant 
accounting vouchers, supporting documents and monthly bank statements against the bank ledgers.

Key findings of the Reviewer

The key findings of the Reviewer is set out below:-

1.	 As announced by the Company on 2 and 19 June 2017, the accident occurred when some of the 
financial documents of the Group were being transported to a new file storage facility, and as a 
result, the financial documents and records for the years of 2010 to 2015 of five of the subsidiaries 
of the Company were damaged.

2.	 According to the explanation obtained by the Reviewer from the Finance Department, the list 
of bank accounts of the Group was updated by the Finance Department after the Accident (the 
“Updated List”), and the Updated List omitted some of the bank accounts (保證金戶) of the Group 
which had not been used for a long period of time (the “Abandoned Bank Accounts”).

By reason of the exclusion of the Abandoned Bank Accounts in the Updated List, the Reviewer 
identified discrepancies between the records shown in the Updated List and the Group’s audited 
consolidated bank balances.
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46. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD (CONTINUED)

(b) (continued)

The 1 February 2018 announcement (continued)

Key findings of the Reviewer (continued)

3. The Reviewer also identified discrepancies between the bank balances shown on the list of bank 
accounts of the Group provided by the Company and the records obtained by the Commission. 
Based on the information obtained by the Reviewer, the Reviewer identified that the balances of 
the Bank Accounts shown on records obtained by the Commission as at 31 December 2012 and 
2013 were lower than the corresponding balances shown on the lists of bank accounts of the Group 
provided by the Company, and the differences were respectively around RMB2.1 billion as at 31 
December 2012 and around RMB2.7 billion as at 31 December 2013.

However, the Reviewer was unable to identify the cause(s) for the Discrepancies. This was because 
(1) the Bank Accounts had been closed and the relevant banks did not respond to the Reviewer’s 
request for confirmations; and (2) the relevant financial records and documents were damaged 
and/or destroyed during the Accident.

4. The Reviewer did not receive responses from the relevant banks on confirmation requests for most 
of the bank balances as at 31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014.

Furthermore, the extent of work performed by the Reviewer on tracing bank transactions to 
supporting records was constrained due to unavailability of related financial documents and 
records as a result of the Accident.

Save for the discrepancies caused by the omission of the Abandoned Bank Accounts in the 
Updated List and the discrepancies identified by the Reviewer referred to in paragraph 3 above, 
the Reviewer was not provided with requested documentary records on a number of accounts for 
the remaining bank balances of the Group as at 31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014.

Conclusion of the Reviewer

Due to the limited information made available to the Reviewer, the Reviewer was unable to identify the 
reason for and particulars of the Discrepancies.

The Company is currently seeking professional advice in respect of the findings and conclusion the 
Reviewer. Further announcement will be made by the Company as and when appropriate.

(c) On 25 October 2017, the Company disclosed a letter from the Listing Committee regarding failure by 
Mr. Wang Kai, a former director of the Company, to cooperate in the HKEx’s investigation into possible 
Listing Rule breaches is viewed seriously and will not be tolerated, and will also be taken into account 
in assessing an individual’s suitability to act as a director of any listed issuer and listing applicant in the 
future.
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46.	 EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD (CONTINUED)

(d)	 Privatisation

On 15 June 2017, the Board received the Letters from the Potential Offerors, in which the Potential Offerors 
informed the Board that they are in the preliminary phase of considering the feasibility of pursuing a 
proposal for the privatisation of the Company, which, if proceeded with, could result in the privatisation 
and delisting of the Company from the HKEx. The Board is also informed by the Potential Offerors that, 
in relation to the Possible Proposal, the Potential Offerors are acting in concert. The privatisation was not 
yet completed up to the date of approval of the consolidated financial statements.

(e)	 Resignation of directors and chief executive officer

Mr. Zhang Jingzhi resigned as an executive director and chief executive officer of the Company on 12 
August 2016.

Mr. Jiang Anping resigned as an executive director of the Company on 12 August 2016.

Mr. Liu Wei resigned as an executive director of the Company on 26 July 2017.

(f )	 Appointment of directors

Mr. Zhou Hao and Mr. Liu Xiqiang were appointed as executive directors of the Company on 12 August 
2016.

Mr. Li Feng was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 26 July 2017.

(g)	 Acquisition of subsidiaries

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group acquired 70% equity interests of Zhongye Zhengyi 
Group Limited (中冶正益集團有限公司) (now known as Sound Construction Group Company Limited  
(桑德建設集團有限責任公司)) (“Zhongye Zhengyi”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Target Group”) 
at a consideration of RMB30,000,000. Zhongye Zhengyi is an investment holding company and mainly 
engaged in constructions in the PRC. Zhongye Zhengyi held the entire equity interests in Jiaxing City 
Zhengyi Equity Investment Management Company Limited (嘉興市正益股權投資管理有限公司) and 
Jiaxing Zhenghao Property Service Company Limited (嘉興正皓物業服務有限公司) and 90% of the 
equity interests in Jiaxing Zhengxing Machinery and Equipment Leasing Company Limited (嘉興正興機
械設備租賃有限公司).
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46. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD (CONTINUED)

(g) Acquisition of subsidiaries (continued)

The directors of the Company have been unable to gain access to the books and records of the Target 
Group. Given these circumstances, the directors of the Company have been unable to consolidate the 
financial statements of the Target Group into the consolidated financial statements or accounts of the 
Group since the date of acquisition. Because of the insufficient financial information of the Target Group, 
the directors of the Company have not disclosed in the consolidated financial statements of the Group for 
the year ended 31 December 2015 the information about the nature and financial effects of the acquisition 
of the Target Group which is required to be disclosed by the applicable IFRSs, including IAS 10 “Events 
after the Reporting Period” and IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”. Further, given the lack of financial 
information available, the directors of the Company consider that they cannot determine whether the 
acquisition of the Target Group resulted in any non-compliance with the Listing Rules, including the 
disclosure requirements and the shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14 “Notifiable 
Transactions” and Chapter 14A “Connected Transactions” under the Listing Rules.

(h) Loans and partial disposal of equity interests in subsidiaries

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group entered into a series of agreements with Ningbo 
Meishan Bonded Area Jinxin Tairun Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership) (寧波梅山保稅港區
金信泰潤投資合夥企業(有限合伙)) (“Jinxin Tairun”) and Sound Group whereby the Group borrowed 
in aggregate RMB871,850,000 from Jinxin Tairun for a duration of five years. Pursuant to the agreements 
with Jinxin Tairun and Sound Group, the Group pledged 70% equity interests of five subsidiaries 
including Shanxian Huadu Water Company Limited (單縣華都水務有限公司), Huizhou Sound Water 
Company Limited (惠州桑德水務有限公司), Shantou Guanbu Sound Water Company Limited (汕頭市
關埠桑德水務有限公司), Shantou Heping Sound Water Company Limited (汕頭市和平桑德水務有限
公司) and Shantou Tongyu Sound Water Company Limited (汕頭市銅盂桑德水務有限公司) (the “Five 
Subsidiaries”) to Jinxin Tairun. In addition, The Group disposed of 30% equity interests of the Five 
Subsidiaries to Jinxin Tairun for a total consideration of RMB84,150,000. Upon maturity of the loans from 
Jinxin Tairun, Sound Group shall buy the 30% equity interests of the Five Subsidiaries from Jinxin Tairun 
at a premium over the total consideration received by the Group for the disposal of the equity interests 
(together referred to as the “Transactions”). Jinxin Tairun is a limited partnership registered under the 
Partnership Enterprise Law of the People’s Republic of China. Sound Group is a fellow subsidiary of the 
Company and also (i) directly held 33.304% of the equity interests in Jinxin Tairun as a limited partner and 
(ii) directly held 20% equity interests in Jiaxing Sangzi Equity Investment Management Company Limited 
(嘉興桑梓股權投資管理有限公司) (“Jiaxing Sangzi”) which directly held 0.044% of the equity interests 
in Jinxin Tairun as an unlimited partner. A key management of the Group was a legal representative and 
executive director of Jiaxing Sangzi since its incorporation and up to 14 December 2017. No announcement 
has been made by the Company and no shareholders’ approval have been obtained for the Transactions. 
The directors of the Company consider they cannot determine whether the Transactions entered into with 
Jinxin Tairun and Sound Group resulted in any non-compliance with the Listing Rules, including the 
disclosure requirements and the shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14 and Chapter 14A 
under the Listing Rules.
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47.	 PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the reporting period.

The directors of the Company made an assessment as at the date of initial application of IFRS 12 and at the end 
of the reporting period. In the opinion of the directors, there is no subsidiary that has non-controlling interest 
individually that are material to the Group and therefore no information is disclosed for these non-wholly owned 
subsidiaries.

Significant restrictions

Cash and short-term deposits of RMB held in the PRC are subject to local exchange control regulations. These 
local exchange control regulations provide for restrictions on exporting capital from the PRC, other than through 
normal dividends.

notes:

(i) 	 Pursuant to the contract for Chinese-foreign contractual joint venture between the owners of Taizhou 
Sound, the Company has control over Taizhou Sound and is entitled to 100% of the dividend distributed 
by this entity.

(ii)	 The registered capital of Hunan Epure is RMB30,000,000, of which RMB6,000,000 has been paid as at  
31 December 2015.

(iii)	 The registered capital of Fuqing Rongqing is RMB10,040,000, of which RMB7,010,000 has been paid as at 
31 December 2015.

(iv)	 The registered capital of Huangping Sound is RMB6,250,000 , of which RMB3,125,000 has been paid as at 
31 December 2015.

(v)	 The registered capital of Xiangxiang Sound is RMB8,640,000, of which RMB1,000,000 has been paid as at 
31 December 2015.

(vi)	 The registered capital of Fuqing Qingxi is RMB1,700,000, and nil has been paid as at 31 December 2015.

(vii)	 The registered capital of Yulin Sound is USD4,050,000, of which USD1,465,476 has been paid as at  
31 December 2015.

(viii)	 The registered capital of Xinghua Huqing is RMB112,260,000, of which RMB53,312,500 has been paid as at 
31 December 2015.

(ix)	 The registered capital of Taihe Sound is USD6,000,000, of which USD4,800,000 has been paid as at  
31 December 2015.

(x)	 The registered capital of Tongling Sound is RMB30,000,000, of which RMB5,000,000 has been paid as at 
31 December 2015.

(xi) 	 The registered capital of Changbaishan Water Supply is RMB13,500,000, and nil has been paid as at  
31 December 2015.

(xii)	 The registered capital of Yining Huize is RMB77,000,000, of which RMB27,912,500 has been paid as at  
31 December 2015.
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47. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

notes: (continued)

(xiii) The registered capital of Xingren Sound is USD6,200,000, of which USD1,098,407 has been paid as at 
31 December 2015.

(xiv) The registered capital of Beijing Epure Environment is RM20,000,000 of which RMB3,010,650 has been 
paid as at 31 December 2015.

(xv) The registered capital of Baoding Sound is RMB20,800,000, of which RMB1,000,000 has been paid as at 
31 December 2015.

(xvi) The registered capital of Xishui Qianyuan is USD12,000,000, of which USD3,000,000 has been paid as at 
31 December 2015.

(xvii) The registered capital of Dazhou Sound is RMB10,000,000, of which RMB1,300,000 has been paid as at 
31 December 2015.

(xviii) The registered capital of Linfen Yi’ande is RMB2,000,000, of which RMB200,000 has been paid as at 
31 December 2015.

(xix) The registered capital of Huoqiu Sound is RMB13,000,000, of which RMB2,000,000 has been paid as at 
31 December 2015.

(xx) The registered capital of Chongqing Yusang is RMB50,000,000, of which RMB3,000,000 has been paid as 
at 31 December 2015.

(xxi) The registered capital of Jinjiang Sound is RMB36,000,000, of which RMB2,000,000 has been paid as at 
31 December 2015.

(xxii) The registered capital of Anhui Sound is RMB5,000,000 , and nil has been paid as at 31 December 2015.

(xxiii) The registered capital of Shanxian Xinnong is RMB17,700,000 , and nil has been paid as at 31 December 
2015.

(xxiv) The registered capital of Zhaoyuan Sound is USD12,000,000 , of which USD1,440,000 has been paid as at 
31 December 2015.

(xxv) The registered capital of Fu’an Sound is RMB18,000,000, of which RMB1,000,000 has been paid as at 
31 December 2015.

(xxvi) The registered capital of Xi’an Changqing is RMB50,000,000, of which RMB20,000,000 has been paid as 
at 31 December 2015.

(xxvii) The registered capital of Ankang Wuli is RMB11,400,000, of which RMB1,000,000 has been paid as at 
31 December 2015.

(xxviii) The registered capital of Tongjiang Sound is USD8,500,000, of which USD1,296,300 has been paid as at 
31 December 2015.

(xxix) The registered capital of Tongzi Sound is RMB45,000,000, of which RMB25,000,000 has been paid as at 
31 December 2015.
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47.	 PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

notes: (continued)

(xxx)	 The registered capital of Bazhong Sound is USD5,200,000, of which USD4,100,000 has been paid as at  
31 December 2015.

(xxxi)	 The registered capital of Bazhong Mingjiang is RMB10,000,000, of which RMB1,000,000 has been paid as 
at 31 December 2015.

(xxxii)	 The registered capital of Fengdu Sound is RMB40,000,000, of which RMB18,000,000 has been paid as at 
31 December 2015.

(xxxiii)	The registered capital of Tongzi Panlong is RMB40,000,000, of which RMB6,028,400 has been paid as at  
31 December 2015.

(xxxiv)	 The registered capital of Dazhu Sound is RMB35,000,000, and nil has been paid as at 31 December 2015.

(xxxv)	 The registered capital of Bazhong Sewage Treatment is RMB15,310,000, and nil has been paid as at  
31 December 2015.

(xxxvi)	 The registered capital of Xishui Sound is RMB90,000,000, and nil has been paid as at 31 December 2015.

(xxxvii)	The registered capital of Huazhou Sound is RMB7,000,000, and nil has been paid as at 31 December 2015.

(xxxviii)	The registered capital of Fusui Sound is RMB8,400,000, and nil has been paid as at 31 December 2015.

(xxxix)	The registered capital of Huazhou Tongqing is RMB7,000,000, and nil has been paid as at 31 December 
2015.

(xl)	 The registered capital of Gucheng Sound is RMB48,000,000, and nil has been paid as at 31 December 2015.

(xli)	 The registered capital of Jingxian Sound is RMB20,000,000, of which RMB1,000,000 has been paid as at 
31 December 2015.

(xlii)	 The registered capital of Zhaodong Sound is RMB86,810,000, of which RMB77,000,000 has been paid as 
at 31 December 2015.

(xliii)	 The registered capital of Helong Sound is RMB24,000,000, of which RMB15,000,000 has been paid as at  
31 December 2015.

(xliv)	 Those entities are newly incorporated or established in the current year.

(xlv)	 Those entities are acquired in the current year.

(xlvi) 	 Siyang Yangqing was liquidated on 27 November 2015.

(xlvii) 	 Except for Taizhou Sound, the equity interests in other subsidiaries are same with the voting rights in 
the subsidiaries. The equity interest of the Company in Taizhou Sound is 76.8%, while the voting right in 
Taizhou Sound is 100%.
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48. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Note 2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Equipment 120 22
Investments in subsidiaries 1,405,602 1,977,276

1,405,722 1,977,298
CURRENT ASSETS

Trade and other receivables 1,463,926 3,245,986
Derivative financial instruments - 15,321
Bank balances 53,328 135,366

1,517,254 3,396,673
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 968,652 2,318,527
Borrowings 192,694 307,701
Senior notes - 907,073

1,161,346 3,533,301

NET CURRENT ASSETS (LIABILITIES) 355,908 (136,628)

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,761,630 1,840,670

NON-CURRENT LIABILITY
Derivative financial instruments 37,969 47,014

TOTAL ASSETS LESS TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,723,661 1,793,656

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Issued capital 36 1,720,304 1,690,579
Reserves 3,357 103,077

1,723,661 1,793,656
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48.	 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Reserve movement of the Company

Capital
reserve

Share
options
reserve

Convertible
loan notes

reserve
Retained
earnings Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2014 7,010 34,249 58,026 5,194 104,479
Profit for the year - - - 60,160 60,160
Recognition of equity-settled 

share-based payments - 1,225 - - 1,225
Conversion of convertible 

loan notes - - (58,026) - (58,026)
Exercise of share options - (4,761) - - (4,761)

At 31 December 2014 7,010 30,713 - 65,354 103,077
Loss for the year - - - (92,620) (92,620)
Exercise of share options - (7,100) - - (7,100)
Lapse of share options - (23,613) - 23,613 -

At 31 December 2015 7,010 - - (3,653) 3,357

49.	 COMPARATIVE

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform with current year presentation. In particular, 
imputed interest income on service concession receivables has been reclassified from “other income” to “revenue”. 
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, such reclassifications provide a more appropriate presentation of 
the Group’s business segments and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

50.	 NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere and below which are not reflected in the consolidated statement of cash flow, the 
Group did not have major non-cash transactions.

Considerations in respect of the Group’s acquisition of subsidiaries with an amount of approximately 
RMB15,875,000 (2014: RMB7,031,000) had not been paid in cash at the end of the reporting period (Note 37).

Proceed in respect of the Group’s disposal of 49% equity interest in Fuqing Sound with an amount of 
approximately RMB7,066,000 was settled by other receivables of Fuqing Sound of the Group (Note 38).

51.	 APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 26 February 2018.



extract of independent  auditors’ report

to the members of Sound Global Ltd.
(incorporated in the Republic of Singapore with limited liability)

The Company’s auditors have qualified the report on the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2015, an extract of which is as follows:

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion

(a)	 Discrepancies in the bank balances as at 31 December 2012 and 2013 and loss of accounting records

As disclosed in notes 3 and 46(b) to the consolidated financial statements, the Company made an announcement 
on 13 April 2016 stating that the Securities and Futures Commission (the “Commission”) had directed The Stock 
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “HKEx”) to suspend all the dealings in the shares of the Company with 
effect from 13 April 2016 (the “2016 Suspension”).

The Company later announced on 2 June 2017 and 19 June 2017 that (i) on 25 November 2016, an accident occurred 
when certain financial documents of the Group were being transported to a new file storage facility and as a 
result, certain financial documents of the Group were lost and/or damaged (the “Accident”); and (ii) the Group 
was in the course of verifying the relevant details and ascertaining the scope of loss. Subsequently on 24 July 
2017, the Company made an announcement stating that (i) the reason for the 2016 Suspension was that the 
Commission had found the bank balances of five bank accounts (the “Banks Accounts”) of the subsidiaries of 
the Company as at 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2013 were materially overstated by approximately RMB2.1 
billion and RMB2.7 billion respectively (the “Bank Balances Discrepancies”); and (ii) PKF Business Advisory 
Limited (the “Reviewer”) was engaged by the Company on 19 January 2017 to perform investigation services to the 
Company in respect of the Bank Balances Discrepancies. 

In relation to the Accident, the directors of the Company have determined that the Accident was a fire accident 
which caused damages to and loss of financial documents of five subsidiaries of the Company (the “Relevant 
PRC Subsidiaries”), details of which are set out in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements. Vouchers 
together with their supporting documents, bank statements and related bank reconciliations of the Relevant 
PRC Subsidiaries for the financial years 2010 to 2015 were lost in the Accident (the “Damaged Documents”). 
The directors of the Company asserted that the Group had been unable to retrieve or reconstruct the books and 
records of the Relevant PRC Subsidiaries based on the financial information of the Relevant PRC Subsidiaries 
available to them, as key personnel of the finance department of the Group had left the Group and the Group had 
lost contact with them. Further, the Bank Accounts to which the Bank Balances Discrepancies relate were bank 
accounts of the Relevant PRC Subsidiaries.

The Company further announced on 1 February 2018 that the Commission had not received from the Company 
any submission or representation which could satisfactorily explain the Bank Balances Discrepancies. The 
Company also announced that the Reviewer had on 8 January 2018 issued a report of their investigation findings. 
The Reviewer had identified discrepancies between the records shown in the list of bank accounts of the 
Group which was updated by the finance department after the Accident and the Group’s audited consolidated 
bank balances, as well as discrepancies in the bank balances shown on the list of bank accounts of the Group 
provided by the Company and the records obtained by the Commission. Based on the information obtained by 
the Reviewer, the Reviewer identified that the balances of the Bank Accounts shown on the records obtained by 
the Commission as at 31 December 2012 and 2013 were lower than the corresponding balances shown on the lists 
of bank accounts of the Group provided by the Company, and the differences were respectively around RMB2.1 
billion as at 31 December 2012 and around RMB2.7 billion as at 31 December 2013.

The Reviewer also stated that it did not receive responses from the relevant banks on confirmation requests for 
most of the bank balances as at 31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014 and that the extent of work performed by the 
Reviewer on tracing bank transactions to supporting records was constrained due to unavailability of related 
financial documents and records as a result of the Accident.
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The Reviewer concluded that it was unable to identify the cause or causes for the Bank Balances Discrepancies 
and particulars of these discrepancies.

As disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, in December 2017, the Group had commenced 
taking steps to further investigate the Bank Balances Discrepancies. As at the date of this report, these 
investigation works of the Group are still at a preliminary stage and no conclusive result was drawn in respect of 
the findings and conclusion of the Reviewer.

Under the circumstances as described above, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit 
evidence to enable us to assess the effects of the matters to which the Bank Balances Discrepancies, investigations 
on the Bank Balances Discrepancies and the Accident relate. 

Further, given the loss of books and records of the Relevant PRC Subsidiaries in relation to the Damaged 
Documents and the inability of the Group to retrieve or reconstruct them, the directors of the Company had 
prepared the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 by using the 
figures shown in the management accounts of the Relevant PRC Subsidiaries even though the Group does not 
have the necessary information and supporting books and records and evidences about the transactions and 
account balances of the Relevant PRC Subsidiaries for inclusion of these entities in the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015. The amounts of the assets, liabilities, revenue, 
income, expenses and cash flows of the Relevant PRC Subsidiaries that have been included in the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015, including the comparative figures in 
respect of the preceding financial year, are disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements. As can 
be seen from the disclosure note, many elements in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2015 have been materially affected by the Damaged Documents.

There were no alternative audit procedures that we could perform to obtain sufficient and appropriate evidence 
as to the causes and effects of the Bank Balances Discrepancies and the Accident and their implications and 
impacts on all the elements (including all balances of assets and liabilities and all amounts of revenue, income 
and expenses) presented in the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 
2015 and the comparative figures presented in these consolidated financial statements, including all information 
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. In particular, we were unable to obtain sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves regarding (i) whether problematic transactions and balances that 
caused the Bank Balances Discrepancies had been completely identified by the directors of the Company and 
appropriately reflected in the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the respective financial years to which 
they relate; (ii) the nature and validity of the problematic transactions and balances and the reasons why they 
arose; (iii) whether there were any contingent liabilities arising from the problematic transactions and balances; 
and (iv) whether there were any problematic transactions and balances involving related parties but which had 
not been previously identified by the directors of the Company. The scope limitations described above also 
impact on our ability to determine the reliability of the management representations received by us and relied 
upon for our audit testing purposes and hence of the audit evidence in general.

In view of the limitations, we have been unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to evaluate the 
possible effects of the matters described above. Any adjustments found to be required may have consequential 
significant effects on the elements in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 
2015 and the comparative figures for the preceding financial year and hence on the net assets of the Group as 
at 31 December 2015 and 2014 and the profit attributable to the owners of the Company for the years ended 31 
December 2015 and 2014.
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extract of independent  extract of independent  aauditors’ reportuditors’ reportaauditors’ reportaa to the members of Sound Global Ltd.to the members of Sound Global Ltd.
(incorporated in the Republic of Singapore with limited liability)(incorporated in the Republic of Singapore with limited liability)

(b) Opening balances and the comparative information

We had audited the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2014 and had 
issued an unqualified opinion (“Our Previous Audit Opinion”) on those consolidated financial statements on 24 
November 2015.

However, the notification of the Bank Balances Discrepancies and our discussions of these matters with directors 
of the Company now cause us to believe that some key documentary evidences provided to us during our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2014 are unlikely to be reliable 
and therefore are not satisfactory basis for Our Previous Audit Opinion. 

Further, the eventual discovery of the causes and effects of the Bank Balances Discrepancies from any further 
investigation could result in the identification of problematic transactions and balances which might require 
material adjustments to be made to multiple elements in the previously issued consolidated financial statements 
of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2013. The closing balances as at 31 December 2012 and 
2013 of the assets and liabilities of the Group entered into the determination of the financial performances and 
cash flows of the Group for the subsequent financial years and have carryforward effects on the closing balances 
as at the end of the subsequent financial years. Hence any adjustments found to be necessary to the closing 
balances as at 31 December 2012 and 2013 may affect the balance of retained profits as at 1 January 2014, the 
Group’s results for the year ended 31 December 2014 and the closing balances as at 31 December 2014.

Based on the foregoing, we have determined that our opinion on the consolidated financial statements of the 
Group for the year ended 31 December 2014 shall be withdrawn and shall not be relied upon, and our auditors’ 
report thereon shall be revised to a disclaimer of opinion on those consolidated financial statements due to 
scope limitation in relation to the Bank Balances Discrepancies. In view of these matters, we were unable to 
determine whether adjustments might have been necessary in respect of the figures as at and for the year ended 
31 December 2014 presented as comparative figures in the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the 
year ended 31 December 2015 and the possible effects of these matters on the comparability of the current year’s 
figures and the comparative figures.

Furthermore, the closing balances as at 31 December 2014 of the assets and liabilities of the Group entered into 
the determination of the financial performance and cash flows of the Group for the current financial year ended 
31 December 2015 and have carryforward effects on the closing balances as at 31 December 2015. Consequently, 
any adjustments found to be necessary to the closing balances as at 31 December 2014 may significantly affect 
the balances of retained profits of the Group as at 1 January 2015, the Group’s results and cash flows for the year 
ended 31 December 2015, closing balances of assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2015 and related 
disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 
2015.
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(c)	 Going concern

As disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group (i) incurred net cash outflows from 
operating activities of approximately RMB1,804,920,000 for the year ended 31 December 2015; and (ii) had total 
borrowings which exceeded the aggregate restricted bank balances and bank balances and cash by approximately 
RMB2,732,981,000 as at 31 December 2015. The Group recorded current and non-current borrowings of 
approximately RMB2,704,907,000 and RMB1,248,743,000 respectively and restricted bank balances and bank 
balances and cash of aggregate amount of approximately RMB1,220,669,000 as at 31 December 2015. In addition, 
the adjustments found to be necessary to the Group’s balance of retained profits as at 1 January 2015, results 
for the year ended 31 December 2015 and closing balances of assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2015 of the 
matters described in paragraphs (a), (b) and (d) herein may cause the operating results and liquidity position 
of the Group as presented in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015 to be 
adversely affected to the extent that the Group’s ability to meet its obligations as and when they fall due may be 
adversely affected. These conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties which may cast significant 
doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Notwithstanding the abovementioned, the 
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which depends 
upon the Group’s ability to repay or extend existing borrowings upon their maturities, through cash flows from 
operations and working capital, and financial support from the controlling shareholder and other financial 
institutions. As of the date of this report, we are unable to obtain the Group’s cash flow forecast, including 
related reasonable and supportable bases for the underlying data and assumptions, which are necessary for us 
to assess the appropriateness of the use of the going concern assumption in the preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements. Because of the significance of the matters above, we are unable to form an opinion as to 
whether the use of going concern assumption in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements is 
appropriate. Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern, adjustments would have to be made 
to the consolidated financial statements to adjust the carrying values of the Group’s assets to their recoverable 
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities 
as current assets and liabilities, respectively.

(d)	 Recoverability of trade receivables, amounts due from customers for contract work and other receivables and validity of 
related revenue recognised

As disclosed in notes 24 and 26 to the consolidated financial statements, as of the date of this report, (i) trade 
receivables with principal amounts of approximately RMB229,923,000, RMB392,253,000 and RMB 522,728,000 
which were recognised by the Group on or before 31 December 2013, during the year ended 31 December 2014 
and 2015 respectively which were still outstanding and remained unsettled, (ii) amounts due from customers for 
contract work with amounts of approximately RMB315,449,000, RMB417,272,000 and RMB220,540,000 which 
were recognised by the Group on or before 31 December 2013, during the year ended 31 December 2014 and 2015 
respectively which were still outstanding and no progress billings had been issued, and (iii) other receivables with 
amounts of approximately RMB58,396,000, RMB123,556,000 and RMB270,316,000 which were recognised by the 
Group on or before 31 December 2013, during the year ended 31 December 2014 and 2015 respectively which were 
still outstanding and remained unsettled. 
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extract of independent  extract of independent  aauditors’ reportuditors’ reportaauditors’ reportaa to the members of Sound Global Ltd.to the members of Sound Global Ltd.
(incorporated in the Republic of Singapore with limited liability)(incorporated in the Republic of Singapore with limited liability)

We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves as to the recoverability of 
the trade receivables, amounts due from customers for contract work and other receivables described in the 
foregoing. Further, we were not provided with sales invoices and complete sets of related sales documents issued 
in relation to these trade receivables and amounts due from customers for contract work recognised during the 
year, hence we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves as to the validity 
and existence of these trade receivables and amounts due from customers for contract work. There were no 
alternative audit procedures that we could perform to satisfy ourselves as to whether the balances of these assets 
and the related amounts being recognised by the Group as revenue were free from material misstatements, 
whether due to fraud or otherwise. Hence we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
as to whether the trade receivables, amounts due from customers for contract work, other receivables, impairment 
losses recognised in respect of the trade receivables, amounts due from customers for contract work and other 
receivables and related revenue recognised in the consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 
31 December 2015 were properly recorded and accounted for in accordance with the requirements of applicable 
IFRSs, including IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”, IAS 18 “Revenue” and IAS 11 
“Construction Contracts”. There were no alternative audit procedures that we could perform to satisfy ourselves 
as to whether the trade receivables, amounts due from customers for contract work and other receivables, the 
impairment loss recognised in respect of the (i) trade receivables; (ii) amounts due from customers for contract 
work; and (iii) other receivables and the related revenue were free from material misstatement. Any adjustments 
that would be required may have consequential significant effects on the Group’s financial position at 31 
December 2015 and financial performance and cash flows of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015, and 
the related disclosures thereof in the consolidated financial statements.

(e) Non-compliance with disclosure requirements of IFRSs and the Riles Governing the Listing of Securities on the HKEx (the 
“Listing Rules”)

As disclosed in note 46(g) to the consolidated financial statements, subsequent to the end of the reporting period 
of 31 December 2015 and before the date of this report, the Group has acquired 70% equity interests of Zhongye 
Zhengyi Group Limited (中冶正益集團有限公司) (now known as Sound Construction Group Company Limited 
(桑德建設集團有限責任公司)) (“Zhongye Zhengyi”) and its subsidiaries (the “Target Group”) at a consideration 
of RMB30,000,000. Up to the date of this report, the directors of the Company have been unable to gain access 
to the books and records of the Target Group. Given these circumstances, the directors of the Company have 
been unable to consolidate the financial statements or accounts of the Target Group into the consolidated 
financial statements or accounts of the Group since the date of acquisition. Because of the insufficient financial 
information of the Target Group, the directors of the Company have not disclosed in the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 the information about the nature and financial 
effects of the acquisition of the Target Group which is required to be disclosed by the applicable IFRSs, including 
IAS 10 “Events after the Reporting Period” and IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”. Also, given these circumstances, 
there were no practicable audit procedures that we could perform to satisfy ourselves about the completeness of 
the disclosures of the events after the reporting period in the consolidated financial statements. Further, given the 
lack of financial information available, there were no practicable audit procedures that we could perform to assess 
whether the acquisition of the Target Group resulted in any non-compliance with the Listing Rules, including the 
disclosure requirements and the shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14 “Notifiable Transactions” 
and Chapter 14A “Connected Transactions” under the Listing Rules.
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Further, as disclosed in note 46(h) to the consolidated financial statements, subsequent to the end of the reporting 
period of 31 December 2015 and before the date of this report, the Group entered into a series of agreements with 
Ningbo Meishan Bonded Area Jinxin Tairun Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership) (寧波梅山保稅港區
金信泰潤投資合夥企業(有限合伙)) (“Jinxin Tairun”) and Sound Group Limited (“Sound Group”) whereby the 
Group borrowed in aggregate RMB871,850,000 from Jinxin Tairun for a duration of five years. Pursuant to the 
agreements with Jinxin Tairun and Sound Group, the Group pledged 70% equity interests of five subsidiaries 
(the “Five Subsidiaries”) to Jinxin Tairun. In addition, The Group disposed of 30% equity interests of the Five 
Subsidiaries to Jinxin Tairun for a total consideration of RMB84,150,000. Upon maturity of the loans from Jinxin 
Tairun, Sound Group shall buy the 30% equity interests of the Five Subsidiaries from Jinxin Tairun at a premium 
over the total consideration received by the Group for the disposal of the equity interests (together referred to as 
the “Transaction”). Jinxin Tairun is a limited partnership registered under the Partnership Enterprise Law of the 
People’s Republic of China. Sound Group is a fellow subsidiary of the Company and also (i) directly held 33.304% 
of the equity interests in Jinxin Tairun as a limited partner and (ii) directly held 20% equity interests in Jiaxing 
Sangzi Equity Investment Management Company Limited (嘉興桑梓股權投資管理有限公司) (“Jiaxing Sangzi”) 
which directly held 0.044% of the equity interests in Jinxin Tairun as an unlimited partner. A key management of 
the Group was a legal representative and executive director of Jiaxing Sangzi since its incorporation and up to 14 
December 2017. We were not provided with sufficient appropriate audit evidences on the identity of Jinxin Tairun 
and there were no practicable audit procedures that we could perform to assess whether the Transactions entered 
into with Jinxin Tairun and Sound Group resulted in any non-compliance with the Listing Rules, including the 
disclosure requirements and the shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14 and Chapter 14A under 
the Listing Rules.

Disclaimer of Opinion

Because of the significance of the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion paragraphs, we have 
not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion. Accordingly, we 
do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements as to whether they give a true and fair view of the 
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2015, and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with IFRSs and as to whether they have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure 
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Report on Matters under the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance

In respect alone of the inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about the items described in the Basis for 
Disclaimer of Opinion paragraphs above:

•	 we were unable to determine whether adequate accounting records had been kept; and

•	 we have not obtained all the information and explanations that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, are 
necessary and material for the purpose of the audit.
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management discussion and analysis

A)	 Review of Group’s Financial Performance:

Revenue

The Group’s revenue increased by approximately RMB411.4 million or 11.2% from approximately RMB3,674.4 million in 
2014 to approximately RMB4,085.8 million in 2015. 

Turnkey revenue increased by approximately RMB302.4 million or 9.4% from approximately RMB3,210.0 million in 2014 
to RMB3,512.4 million in 2015 as the Group expands its operations. Profit contribution from turnkey projects and services 
decreased by approximately RMB43.6 million or 5.6% from approximately RMB774.7 million in 2014 to approximately 
RMB731.1 million in 2015. The Group continues to be awarded and is fulfilling its Engineering, Procurement and 
Construction (“EPC”) projects in PRC.

External revenue from equipment fabrication segment increased by approximately RMB4.1 million or 11.1% from 
approximately RMB37.1 million in 2014 to RMB41.2 million in 2015 as it further fulfils inter-segment sales. Profit 
contribution from equipment fabrication segment increased by approximately RMB20.8 million or 330.2% from net loss 
of approximately RMB6.3 million in 2014 to profit at approximately RMB14.5 million in 2015. The profit was mainly due to 
the higher profit margin.

Revenue from O&M segment increased by approximately RMB104.9 million or 24.5% from approximately RMB427.3 
million in 2014 to approximately RMB532.2 million in 2015. Profit contribution from O&M segment increased by 
approximately RMB98.6 million or 62.5% from approximately RMB157.7 million in 2014 to approximately RMB256.3 
million in 2015. Revenue and profit increased as additional eight BOT and eight O&M projects started operation in 2015. 

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Gross profit increased by approximately RMB114.7 million or 9.5% from approximately RMB1,203.0 million in 2014 to 
approximately RMB1,317.7 million in 2015. The increase in 2015 was due to the higher revenue and the stable gross profit 
margin throughout the financial year.

The gross profit margin remained relatively consistent at approximately 32.7% in 2014 and approximately 32.3% in 2015. 
Turnkey projects and services segment remained the main contributor to the Group’s revenue. The gross profit margin 
of turnkey projects and services is approximately 28.6% due to part of revenue coming from high margin pipeline 
construction business and design services. Given the nature of the turnkey projects, where revenue is recognised based on 
the percentage of completion, the gross profit margin for engineering works would fluctuate from one period to the next 
depending on the amount of revenue recognised for the relevant projects during the period in review. Nevertheless, on a 
year-to-year basis, the gross profit margin remained relatively stable at around 28%. The gross profit margin of O&M is 
approximately 57.8%.
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Other Income

Other income increased by approximately RMB30.2 million or 168.3% from approximately RMB18.0 million in 2014 to 
approximately RMB48.2 million in 2015. The increase in 2015 was mainly due to the increase in:

1)	 interest income by approximately RMB17.3 million as more placement of fixed deposits during the year; and

2)	 government grants by approximately RMB12.6 million mainly to support the O&M segment as the government 
announced that value added tax is payable on such O&M revenue with effect from 1 July 2015.

Other Gains and Losses

Other losses increased by approximately RMB96.2 million or 161.1% from approximately RMB59.8 million in 2014 to 
approximately RMB156.0 million in 2015. The losses in 2015 mainly arose from the loss on early redemption of senior 
notes of approximately RMB56.5 million and foreign exchange loss of approximately RMB78.1 million resulted from the 
US Dollar denominated borrowings as US Dollar strengthen against Renminbi. These losses were partly offset by the 
gain on the bargain purchase of those BOT subsidiaries of approximately RMB23.2 million. 

Distribution and Selling Expenses

Distribution and selling expenses increased by approximately RMB19.4 million or 48.4% from approximately RMB40.2 
million in 2014 to approximately RMB59.6 million in 2015. The increase mainly arose from fees paid to local agents for 
assisting the Group in its tender process at various locations. Fees vary depending on project size and negotiation, there is 
no clear identifiable trend.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses increased by approximately RMB22.8 million or 109.4% from approximately 
RMB20.8 million in 2014 to approximately RMB43.6 million in 2015. The research and development expenses depend 
on the development of its dynamic technological trends of water treatment industry and the Company’s needs in market 
development. There is no clear identifiable trend.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses increased by approximately RMB33.0 million or 20.9% from approximately RMB157.8 million in 
2014 to approximately RMB190.8 million in 2015 mainly due to the increase in:

1)	 staff costs by approximately RMB18.2 million as Group’s headcount increased; and

2)	 legal and consultancy fees by approximately RMB6.8 million due to the engagement of professional firms to assist 
the Company to lift its trading suspension of shares on HKEx.
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Finance Costs

Finance costs decreased by approximately RMB15.0 million or 5.2% from approximately RMB291.0 million in 2014 to 
approximately RMB276.0 million in 2015. The decrease was mainly attributed by the savings in interest expenses as the 
Group repaid the senior notes bearing interest rate of 11.875% and borrowed at lower interest rates.

Income Tax Expenses

Income tax expenses increased by approximately RMB33.1 million or 22.5% from approximately RMB147.5 million in 
2014 to approximately RMB180.6 million in 2015 as business operations increased. Higher income tax expenses for the 
relatively consistent pre-tax profits in 2014 and 2015 are resulted from the higher loss recorded at the company level. The 
Company being an investment holding company, do not have any taxable income to utilise such losses. The higher loss 
related to the loss on early redemption of senior notes and higher foreign exchange loss discussed in “Other Gains and 
Losses”. 

B) Review of Group’s Financial Position:

Current Assets

Current assets decreased by approximately RMB475.5 million or 6.8% from approximately RMB6,985.4 million as at 31 
December 2014 to approximately RMB6,509.9 million as at 31 December 2015 mainly due to the refund of the Earnest 
Money from Sound Group. This decrease was partly offset by the increase in amount due from customers for contract 
works, trade and certain other receivables as business operations increased. 

Non-Current Assets

Non-current assets increased by approximately RMB2,430.4 million or 77.9% from approximately RMB3,120.7 million as at 
31 December 2014 to approximately RMB5,551.1 million as at 31 December 2015. The increase mainly arose from increase 
in service concession receivables as investment in BOT projects increased. 

Current Liabilities

Current liabilities increased by approximately RMB1,392.7 million or 31.8% from approximately RMB4,377.9 million as 
at 31 December 2014 to approximately RMB5,770.6 million as at 31 December 2015. The increase mainly arose from the 
increase in trade and other payables as business operations increased. 

Non-Current Liabilities

Non-current liabilities remained relatively consistent at approximately RMB1,482.2 million as at 31 December 2014 and 
approximately RMB1,530.1 million as at 31 December 2015.

management discussion and analysismanagement discussion and analysis
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Capital and Reserves

Equity attributable to owners of the Company increased by approximately RMB473.9 million or 11.2% from approximately 
RMB4,239.7 million as at 31 December 2014 to approximately RMB4,713.6 million as at 31 December 2015. The increase was 
mainly due to the increase in share capital by RMB29.7 million and the profit for the year attributable to owners of the 
Company of approximately RMB455.4 million. 

The non-controlling interest of approximately RMB46.8 million as at 31 December 2015 related to the followings:

Name of subsidiaries  Minority interest 
shareholdings 

Anyang Taiyuan Water Co., Ltd 10%
Chongqing Yusang Environment Technology Co., Ltd. 50%
Tongling Sound Water Co., Ltd 20%
Tongzi Sound Water Co., Ltd 44%
Fuqing Sound Water Co., Ltd 49%
Bazhong Sound Mingjiang Co., Ltd 36%
Linfen Yiande Water Co., Ltd  20%
Fengdu County Sound Water Co., Ltd 10%
Zhaoyuan City Sound Water Co., Ltd 20%
Zhejiang Sound Zhenqing Water Co., Ltd 30%

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Gearing

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Borrowings (current)  2,704,907  1,448,286 
Borrowings (non-current)  1,248,743  1,272,652 
Obligation under finance lease (current) 3,914 -
Obligation under finance lease (non-current) 36,124 -
Senior notes (current)  -    907,073 
Total debts 3,993,688  3,628,011 

Bank balances and cash  769,719  1,968,239 

Equity attributable to owners of the Company  4,713,576  4,239,737 

Net debt  Net debt  Net debt 

Total debt to equity ratio  0.85  0.86 
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Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) has reviewed the accounting principles and standards 
adopted by the Group, and has discussed and reviewed the internal control and reporting matters. The annual results for 
the year ended 31 December 2015 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed Securities 

During the financial year ended 31 December 2015, neither the Company nor its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or 
redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company.

Share Options

i) 	 On 23 July 2010, the Company granted 64,500,000 options under the Epure Share Option Scheme. The numbers 
of outstanding share options for each period end are as follows: 

As at Outstanding Forfeited Exercised Expired

31 December 2014 27,845,400 342,000 4,317,000 -

31 December 2015 - - 6,437,000 21,408,400

ii) 	 On 9 December 2014, the Company granted 90,000,000 share options under the Sound Global Share Option 
Scheme. The numbers of outstanding share options for each period end are as follows: 

As at Outstanding Forfeited Exercised Expired

31 December 2014 90,000,000 - - -

31 December 2015 88,205,000 1,795,000 - -

Compliance with the Corporate Governance Code

The Company devotes to the best practice on corporate governance, and has complied with the Code Provisions of the 
Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on 
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“the Listing Rules”) for the year ended 31 December 2015 and up to the date 
of this announcement except for the deviations from the following Code Provisions:

a)	 Code Provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-executive directors shall be appointed for a specific term, 
subject to re-election. Although the independent non-executive directors are not appointed for a specific term, 
all directors shall submit themselves for re-election at least once every three years pursuant to the Company’s 
Articles of Association. Under the Company’s Articles of Association, any new director appointed by the Board 
shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall be then eligible 
for re-election at the meeting.

b)	 Code Provision E.1.2 of the CG Code stipulates that the chairman should attend the annual general meeting. The 
chairman of the Company did not attend the annual general meeting held on 12 January 2016 due to other work 
commitment. He will use his best endeavours to attend all future shareholders’ meetings of the Company.

supplementary information 
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Compliance with the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers

The Board has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as 
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules and its amendments from time to time as its own code of conduct regarding 
securities transactions by the directors. The Board confirms that, having made specific enquiries with all directors of 
the Company, during the year ended 31 December 2015, all directors of the Company have complied with the required 
standards of the Model Code.

Employees and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 December 2015, there were 2,700 (2014: 2,201) employees in the Group. Staff remuneration packages are determined 
taking into consideration of market conditions and the performance of the individuals concerned, and are subject to 
review from time to time. The Group also provides other staff benefits including medical and life insurance, discretionary 
incentive bonuses and share options to eligible staff based on their performance and contributions to the Group.

Event After the Reporting Period

Details of event after the reporting period is set out in Note 46 to the consolidated financial statements.

Final Dividend

No dividend has been proposed by the Board in respect of the year ended 31 December 2014 and 2015.

Significant Investment Held, Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries

There were no significant investments held as at 31 December 2015, nor other material acquisitions and disposals of 
subsidiaries during the year.

Closure of Register of Members 

The date of the Annual General Meeting and the closure period of register of members will be notified and announced 
separately.

Disclosure on the Websites of the SEHK and the Company

This announcement shall be published on the website of the SEHK (http://www.hkexnews.hk) and on the Company’s 
website (http://www.soundglobal.com.sg). The annual report for the year ended 31 December 2015 will be despatched to 
the shareholders of the Company and published on the websites of the SEHK and the Company.

Continued Suspension of Trading

Trading in the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange has been suspended with effect from 9 a.m. on 13 April 2016 
and will remain suspended until further notice.

By Order of the Board 
Sound Global Ltd.

Zhou Hao
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 February 2018

As at the date of this announcement, the executive Directors are Wen Yibo, Luo Liyang, Zhou Hao, Liu Xiqiang and Li Feng; and the independent 
non-executive Directors are Ma Yuanju, Zhang Shuting and Luo Jianhua.
The Directors jointly and severally accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this announcement and confirm, having 
made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their knowledge, opinions expressed in this announcement have been arrived at after due and 
careful consideration and there are no other facts not contained in this announcement, the omission of which would make any statement in this 
announcement misleading.
*For identification purposes only
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